
Date Published: 11 March 2019     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 19 March 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 12 
March 2019. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairman

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 12 March 2019. Please send questions to the 
Chief Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairman

6  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy update - priority scope (Pages 5 - 
16)

Sarah Scott, 
Zoe Clifford

7  Gloucestershire Moves 

The Board to receive a presentation.

Deborah Potts

8  ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences) update (Pages 17 - 24) ACC Julian 
Moss

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

9  Future in Mind Transformation Plan Update (Pages 25 - 56) Helen Ford

10  Integrated Locality Partnerships (Pages 57 - 74)

The Board to receive a presentation. 

Helen Goodey

11  NHS Long Term Plan - Update (Pages 75 - 92)

The Board to receive a presentation.

Mary Hutton

Membership – Ingrid Barker (Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust and 2Gether NHS 
Foundation Trust), Wayne Bowcock (Chief Fire Officer), Chris Brierley (Representing Police and 
Crime Commissioner), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), 
Peter Lachecki (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), Bob Lloyd-Smith (Healthwatch 
Gloucestershire), ACC Julian Moss (Representing Chief Constable), Rachel Pearce (NHS 
England), Pat Pratley (District Chief Executive (Housing Link)), Dr Hein Le Roux (Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group), Sarah Scott (Director of Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour 
(Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), 
Cllr Jennie Watkins (District Representative) and Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) 
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Kathy Williams and Cllr Roger Wilson (Chairman)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 
6 November 2018 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Ingrid Barker
Cllr Richard Boyles
Chris Brierley
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
ACC Julian Moss
Dr Hein Le Roux

Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour (Vice-Chairman)
Chris Spencer
Cllr Jennie Watkins
Margaret Willcox OBE
Cllr Roger Wilson

Substitutes:

Officers in attendance:

Apologies: Alan Thomas and Cllr Kathy Williams

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were received. 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 17 July 2018 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received. 

4. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No member questions had been received.

5. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2017/18 

The focus of the report was Mental Health – Leading the Way to Wellbeing: the Mental 
Wealth of Gloucestershire. The priorities discussed in the report were: -

 Promoting good mental health and wellbeing from the earliest age
 Helping people build the Five Ways to Wellbeing into their everyday lives 
 Creating and sustaining the conditions for good mental wellbeing 
 Working in partnership to prevent self-harm and suicide 
 Building mental health-friendly communities and workforces

The report also highlighted the work in Gloucestershire, led by the Health and Wellbeing 
Board (HWB), on Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

The Board congratulated the Director of Public Health (DPH) on the publication of another 
succinct and informative report.

The Director of Public Health (DPH) informed the Board that a GP lead for suicide 
prevention had been appointed. She explained that there was still work to do to with the 
local media to encourage more responsible reporting on suicide.

In response to questions the DPH acknowledged that more needed to be done relating to 
alcohol abuse; that there was a strong commitment to do this; and that work was ongoing 
to improve this area, in particular how to make it easier for people to access support. It was 
suggested that this might be an issue that the HWB would want to look at in depth in future.

The HWB was informed that GPs saw people with a combination of physical and mental 
health problems and that the system was a bit behind the curve on how to address dual 
conditions. It was agreed that it was important to ‘see’ the person as a ‘whole’. 

Parity of esteem between physical and mental health remained an issue. It was also 
important to factor in parity of deprivation; health inequality across and between some 
areas in the county was stark. It would be important to ensure that these matters were 
progressed through the locality framework.

The Director of Children’s Services (DCS) welcomed the report but raised questions 
relating to mental health screening tools at A & E for children and young people, as well as 
access to services and whether the thresholds in Gloucestershire were too high. The 
Clinical Chair, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) informed the HWB 
that a mental health workshop had been held to inform the redesigning of urgent care in the 
county. During the discussion it was recognised that that the screening tool was not good 
enough – this would be addressed in due course. With regard to thresholds the DPH 
informed the HWB that this would need to be discussed with the commissioners of mental 
health services in the county.

The District Council representative on the HWB stated that she was pleased to see that 
there appeared to be an emerging golden thread linking into communities; the question 
remained as to how to train and develop community members to support the wider 
community. She also raised the question of how communities could have a voice ‘round the 
table’. 

The Accountable Officer, GCCG, commented that this was a good opportunity to identify 
the gaps in services and plan according for next year. 

6. SELF HARM UPDATE 

The HWB received a detailed update from Beth Bennett-Britton, Public Health Consultant, 
Karl Gluck, Lead Commissioner Adult Mental Health, and Francis Clark-Stone, 
Commissioning Officer.

The HWB was pleased to note that the Preventing Self-Harm Action Plan had now been 
finalised and was embedded into the Public Health Business Plan, and was also reflected 
in the Future in Mind Transformation Plan. The HWB also welcomed the draft All Age 
Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy and agreed that this should inform and feed into the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (currently being refreshed). 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Members agreed that it was good to hear that officers were working on a self-harm care 
pathway for GCare which should support GPs navigate the system, and offer more 
informed support to their patients. 

It was questioned whether it was understood why Gloucestershire reported higher rates of 
self-harm than nationally. It was explained that Public Health England was looking at 
admission rates for the whole of the South West; it might be that one of the factors was 
related to reporting methodology. It was noted that the number of admissions does not 
necessarily mean that Gloucestershire has a bigger problem than elsewhere. It was also 
important to ensure that staff in acute settings were given the information and support 
necessary to enable them to best support patients.

With regard to resources the Accountable Officer, GCCG, informed the HWB that the 
system was just entering a 10 year planning cycle and that it would be important to look at 
funding for this area. 

The Chairman welcomed this work in this area and stated that the level of activity had 
justified the HWB deep dive approach to this important issue. It was agreed that the HWB 
should receive an annual update on the progress of this work.

7. PROPOSAL FOR LONELINESS/SOCIAL ISOLATION DEEP DIVE 

The Accountable Officer, GCCG, informed the HWB that the GCCG Enabling Active 
Communities group, with membership drawn from across the system, could initiate this 
work and then report back to the HWB. 

The Chairman stated that he thought that it was important that each organisation on the 
HWB could contribute to this work. It was agreed that the Accountable Officer would put 
together a briefing on how this work could be structured to be discussed at HWB level. 

8. AIR QUALITY AND HEALTH DEEP DIVE 

Dave McConalogue, Public Health Consultant, and Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner 
Community Infrastructure, gave a detailed presentation on the work undertaken on air 
quality issues, including the outcomes from the Scrutiny Task Group on this matter.

Members agreed that this was a health and wellbeing issue. It would be important to 
maximise every opportunity to design future developments with cyclists and the green 
agenda in mind, and to continue to encourage people to stop smoking. It was agreed that a 
significant challenge was how to get the general public engaged with this issue.  

The HWB recognised that it has a role in providing leadership on this issue, and that it 
should receive regular reports on this issue, and that each HWB member consider what 
their organisation could contribute to the air quality agenda. 

9. JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY (JHWBS) UPDATE 

Zoe Clifford, Public Health Consultant, updated the HWB on activity following the HWB 
discussion on 17 July 2018. 

The HWB agreed to the vision as set out in the report:-
‘Gloucestershire is a place where everyone can live well, be healthy and thrive.’

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

With regard to the branding logo following a discussion the HWB agreed that the wording 
should be Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing.

The HWB agreed to the framework of primary, secondary and tertiary prevention as set out 
in the report: -

 Primary prevention includes health improvement and requires action on the 
determinants of health to prevent disease occurring. It has been described as 
refocusing upstream to stop people falling in to the waters of disease. 

 Secondary prevention is essentially the early detection of disease, followed by 
appropriate intervention, such as health improvement activity or treatment.

 Tertiary prevention aims to reduce the impact of the disease and promote quality of 
life through active rehabilitation.

10. GENERAL REPORT ON ACTIVITY ON HWB MATTERS IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

It was noted that the content of the report would be developed over time.

The report was noted.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.06 pm

Page 4



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy update - priority scope

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
The seven priorities for the developing Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy are:

 Physical activity
 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)
 Mental wellbeing
 Social isolation/loneliness
 Healthy lifestyles
 Early years / Best Start in Life
 Housing

This paper aims to clarify the scope for each of the priority themes, reflect how each 
of these are currently addressed and identify what needs to happen for the HWB to 
be able to add value.
Recommendations to Board: 

1. Review and agree the scope for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) priorities.

2. Agreement that the healthy lifestyles priority in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy has a focus on healthy weight initially.

3. Agreement for further scoping of the housing priority to identify where the 
Health and Wellbeing Board can add value.

4. Agreement for further scoping of the early years priority to identify where the 
Health and Wellbeing Board can add value.

5. Social isolation deep dive to be presented at the next Health and Wellbeing 
Board to provide a better understanding of this priority. 

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None identified

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy update - priority scope 

Introduction
1. Following the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) development session on 22nd 

January 2019, the priorities for the new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) have been agreed. Each of the priorities are at different stages and will 
require differing degrees of focus from the HWB. Some of the priorities are 
extremely broad in their scope and require further work to assess where the HWB 
can add the most value. 

2. For a number of the priorities, there are already established, clear governance 
and delivery arrangements which can be utilised and linked to the HWB. Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and physical activity are good examples of this 
where the ACEs panel and Gloucestershire Moves steering group already 
provide strategic direction on these priorities. However, for other priorities such 
as early years or housing, the delivery and governance is much more complex 
and may require the HWB to identify which specific aspects of a priority they are 
interested in and then where the governance and delivery of this takes place. 

3. A flexible model for addressing the priorities is required which encourages and 
supports a co-ordinated approach both at a county wide and more local level 
through the District Councils and Integrated Locality Partnerships (ILPs). 

Purpose 
4. This paper aims to clarify the scope for each of the priority themes by reflecting 

how each of these are currently addressed and identify what needs to happen for 
the HWB to be able to add value. 

Recap of the process for deciding the priorities 
5. The community and wider stakeholder engagement helped to form a list of eleven 

potential themes for the HWB to then prioritise. In addition to these, ACEs and 
early years were added to the list since ACEs is an area in which the HWB have 
been recently taking a leadership role in and early years was a cross cutting 
theme running through many of the community engagement workshops.

6. Each of the themes were scored on a priority matrix for the following:
 Need:

- Size and scale of the health need in Gloucestershire (absolute)
- Size and scale of the health need in Gloucestershire (relative)
- Trend over time - whether the level of need is increasing or decreasing

 Impact: Severity of the issue for individuals, patient and carers
 Effectiveness:

Page 6



- Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of available interventions
- Coherence with national policy objectives and/or guidance

 Inequalities: Degree of inequalities in outcomes between different groups  
 Acceptability:

- Community and other stakeholder opinion (we will add this from the 
community and wider stakeholder JHWS engagement)

- Where the HWB would add value - Complex/wicked issues requiring a 
system wide approach

7. Need, impact and effectiveness were pre-scored before the HWB development 
workshop. The workshop then focused on scoring for inequalities and 
acceptability. These criteria were weighed more heavily.

Priorities
8. Following the scoring against the prioritisation matrix and then discussion at the 

HWB development workshop, the following priorities were agreed:
 Physical activity
 ACEs
 Mental wellbeing
 Social isolation/loneliness
 Healthy lifestyles
 Early years / Best Start in Life
 Housing

9. Tackling social isolation and loneliness was agreed as a shared priority between 
the HWB and Safer Gloucestershire. 

10.Healthy lifestyles was selected as a priority to include drugs, alcohol, smoking 
and healthy weight. It was agreed that whilst physical activity is a healthy lifestyle 
behaviour, this would be a separate priority in its own right to provide a clear 
focus on this. 

11. It was agreed that a position statement should be written by the HWB on the 
economic development and transport themes to recognise the importance of 
these in health and wellbeing. Furthermore, it will maintain a watching brief over a 
wider health and wellbeing agenda. 

12.The seven priorities are overarching themes and some, such as mental 
wellbeing, are extremely broad. As a next stage, the JHWS steering group have 
scoped each of these, defining the ambition, rationale, main areas of focus and 
current governance arrangements.

Page 7



Physical activity
Ambition: 
13.To use a whole system, behaviour-change approach to get the least active 

people in the county moving. 

Rationale and scope: 
14. Increasing physical activity has the potential to improve the physical and mental 

health and wellbeing of individuals, families, communities and the county as a 
whole. This HWB priority is intentionally separate from the ‘healthy lifestyles’ 
priority to take account of the unique Gloucestershire Moves approach. 

Main areas of focus:
15.The focus for this priority is to utilise the already existing Gloucestershire Moves. 

This was developed on extensive research and consultation. It uses a theory of 
change that suggests being active over a sustained period requires a shift in 
underlying behaviours and attitudes of individuals.  This approach recognises that 
many factors influence attitudes and behaviours.  For example the personal (e.g. 
self-confidence, experience, the social norms within an individual’s family, friends 
and close community), infrastructure (e.g. existence and maintenance of cycle 
lanes, sports facilities, clubs) and education (e.g. understanding of what’s 
involved), etc - collectively a set of interlocking ‘systems’.  For every individual the 
specific opportunities and barriers to being more active will vary.  As such a 
traditional delivery model with specific interventions to get people active is highly 
unlikely to have a lasting impact on behaviour on its own.

Current governance:
16.The Gloucestershire Moves steering group provides the strategic direction, 

monitoring and evaluation for delivering this approach to improving physical 
activity. 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)
Ambition: 
17.To build communities that are aware of ACEs, talk about ACEs and take action 

on ACEs

Rationale and scope: 
18.There is a large body of evidence which shows that the adversity we experience 

as children can affect us into adulthood. Within a general population anyone can 
be susceptible to ACEs regardless of ethnicity, sex and socioeconomic status, 
although the number of ACEs experience tends to increase with lower 
socioeconomic status.

Page 8



19.Action on ACEs Gloucestershire is a unique collaboration between public sector, 
voluntary and community organisations. This has been developed out of an initial 
deep dive into ACEs for the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Main areas of focus:
20.The ACEs Strategy sets out a vision for a resilient Gloucestershire where 

communities and organisations are aware of, able to talk about and take action 
on ACEs.  It gives a message of hope; that the potential negative effects of ACEs 
can be overcome by building resilience, and that ACEs can be prevented in 
future generations.  It encourages people to change the question from ‘what’s 
wrong with you’ to ‘what’s happened to you’.  It gives people a common language 
for talking about adversity and resilience.

21.The ACEs Strategy seeks to build a social movement that recognises the 
potential lifelong impacts of adversity in childhood and takes action to stop 
childhood harm.  The concept of ‘viral change’ has been used to establish a 
network of ACEs Champions, thus effectively mobilising people across the county 
to implement the ACEs Strategy.  This is a different approach to strategy 
development and implementation than usually followed in Gloucestershire.

22.The main actions for the ACEs panel are: 
Action 1: to raise awareness and understanding of ACEs with communities 
and organisations through delivery of a co-ordinated local campaign
Action 2: to implement training to equip communities and organisations to 
respond appropriately to ACEs
Action 3: to continue our partnership with communities and organisations to 
build resilience through encouraging trusted relationships and developing core 
life skills
Action 4: to develop relevant resources and information for people identified 
with ACEs who need signposting to further sources of support
Action 5: to increase out understanding of the distribution of ACEs across 
Gloucestershire
Action 6: Organisations will incorporate ACEs informed approaches into 
relevant organisational policies, strategies and contracts
Action 7: to evaluate interventions and share good practice and positive 
outcomes from ACEs work across Gloucestershire, the South West and 
beyond

Current Governance:
23.Gloucestershire ACEs Panel leads on the ACEs strategy and reports to the HWB.  

Mental wellbeing
Ambition: 
24.To promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental illness across the life-course.

Page 9



Rationale and scope: 
25.One in four adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem in 

any given year. People in all walks of life can be affected by poor mental health at 
any point in their lives, including new mothers, children, teenagers, adults and 
older people. Mental health problems represent the largest single cause of 
disability in the UK.

26.Poor levels of mental wellbeing can also have an impact on a range of other 
aspects of our lives, including our social and family relationships; our 
achievements in school or work; and our health behaviours, such as what we eat 
and whether or not we exercise. A focus on mental wellbeing is therefore a vital 
component of the work our whole system does to improve the health, wellbeing 
and quality of life of our population.

Main areas of focus:
27. In summary, the main areas are:

 Promoting good mental health and wellbeing from the earliest age
 Gloucestershire Wellbeing (GloW) and the Gloucestershire 

commitment to promoting mental wellbeing through organisations and 
employers

 Helping people build the 5 Ways to Wellbeing into their everyday lives
 Preventing suicide and self-harm
 Creating and sustaining the conditions for good mental wellbeing

Current governance:
28.A strong multi-agency partnership already exists in Gloucestershire and is 

underpinned by comprehensive strategies and action plans.

Social isolation and loneliness
Ambition: 
29.To reduce social isolation and loneliness, and enable local people to take an 

active role in building and nurturing strong social networks and vibrant 
communities.

Rationale and scope: 
30.Loneliness and isolation are not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an 

objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts 
between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is 
defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the 
number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to what is 
currently being experienced. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be 
socially isolated without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being 
socially isolated. 

Page 10



31.There is a growing body of research that identifies and quantifies the impact of 
social isolation and loneliness on individuals and the wider economy. There is 
clear evidence that social isolation and loneliness are associated with negative 
health outcomes, which in turn places increased stress on local health and social 
care services.

Main areas of focus: 
32.This is a priority which requires a fuller understanding of where the focus is 

needed. The HWB have requested a deep dive into this priority which will help to 
identify actions. 

Current governance: 
33.This is agreed as a share priority between the HWB and Safer Gloucestershire. 

The deep dive is being undertaken by Enabling Active Communities (EAC) and 
will report to the HWB in May 2019. This is a good example of where Districts will 
work in different ways; but will be able to measure and feedback on activity, 
outputs and outcomes.

Healthy lifestyles
Ambition: 
34.Children and adults in Gloucestershire adopt and maintain healthy lifestyles.

Rationale and scope: 
35.Health and wellbeing is affected by the lifestyles people lead in terms of diet, 

maintaining a health weight, smoking, alcohol consumption and drug use. These 
lifestyle factors are interdependent and complex. This means there is not one 
simple solution for improving healthy lifestyles. 

36. It is important that we continue to promote and encourage healthy lifestyles to all. 
This includes ensuring that people have access to sufficient information around 
their lifestyle choices to make an informed choice. Furthermore, it includes 
ensuring that people are supported and encouraged where appropriate to make 
those choices, for example through creating health promoting environments 
which support and encourage people to make the healthy choice. Finally, people 
should be supported with the consequences of unhealthy living, including support 
for the individual and their families who may be affected by it.

37.We want to encourage individuals, families and communities to make healthier 
choices and take a proactive role in improving their health and wellbeing.

Main areas of focus:
Healthy weight

Page 11



38.Commissioned services include tier 2 weight management support (WMS) for 
adults, tier 3 WMS and bariatric surgery for adults, Tier 2 and 3 WMS for children 
and young people in development, First 1001 days initiative, GHLL and school 
physical activity initiatives. 

39.There is work with key partners across the system (including districts, county, 
VCS and health) to develop a coordinated ‘whole system’ response to obesity. 
This work includes:
 Test and learn project in Podsmead
 Work with acute trust to improve food environment
 Making links with work on health and planning, active travel, Gloucestershire 

Healthy Living and Learning (GHLL), workplace health and Gloucestershire 
Moves

Smoking 
40.Examples of current activity include a refresh and strengthen of working with 

primary care and Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) to ensure smokers are 
identified, have a conversation / brief intervention and referred or signposted to 
stop smoking service , working with the acute trust, smoke-free settings and 
working with the Mental Health Trust. A range of services and initiative are 
commissioned including stop smoking support for individuals, peer support, 
training and First 1001 initiative. 

Drugs and alcohol
41.Commissioned services and activity includes:

 Healthy Lifestyles Service (commissioned by GCC PH, provided by ICE 
Creates) – helps adults to cut down on alcohol intake as part of the integrated 
healthy lifestyles offer

 CGL Gloucestershire (commissioned by GCC Public Health, provided by 
CGL) – treatment and support for adults dependent on drugs and/or alcohol, 
including psychosocial interventions, medical treatment and prescribing, 
residential rehabilitation and inpatient detox, criminal justice offer, liaison with 
children’s social care, hospital in-reach and assertive outreach to supported 
housing

 Alcohol Liaison Team (funded by GCC Public Health, commissioned by 
CCG/GHT, provided by 2gether) – works with hazardous, harmful and 
dependent drinkers of all ages, attending ED and admitted as inpatients to 
Gloucester Royal and Cheltenham General hospitals

 Individual posts embedded in health services (funded by GCC PH, 
commissioned by CCG and provided by GHT) – including specialist 
substance misuse midwifery and blood borne virus nursing

 Young People’s Substance Misuse Service (funded by GCC Children’s 
Services, provided by Prospects) – treatment and support for young people 

Page 12



using drugs and/or alcohol, as part of the youth support health and wellbeing 
offer

 Blue Lights Project (funded by the Prevention & Self-Care Fund and led by 
GCC PH) – a project currently running in Gloucester (soon in Cheltenham) to 
work in a coordinated and assertive way with change-resistant drinkers to get 
them in to treatment and reduce pressure on services

 Gloucestershire Health Living & Learning (GHLL) (commissioned by GCC PH, 
including a contribution from the substance misuse budget) – primary 
prevention offer, providing lesson plans and training for teachers and school 
staff on drugs and alcohol for young people

42.Overall, this demonstrates the wide range of services and activity commissioned 
to help improve different aspects of achieving a healthy lifestyle. Physical activity 
is included as a separate overarching priority. 

Current governance:
43.The governance arrangements are complex, reflecting the need for different 

approaches depending on the lifestyle factor of interest. 

44.Healthy weight - This programme and its governance is being reviewed to include 
wider representation. This could fit under the HWB to maintain a more upstream 
focus and guard against focusing all the effort on secondary and tertiary 
prevention / weight management services.  

45.Smoking - Individual task and finish groups are established for developing 
projects. There is not a countywide group or board to coordinate or drive forward 
the smoking agenda. We have identified the need for such a group and propose 
line of accountability to Integrated Care System (ICS) as the main focus for 
system change is to influence health partners. 

46.Drugs and alcohol – Strategically, the governance is through Safer 
Gloucestershire which has identified drugs and alcohol as a key priority, with a 
particular focus on persistent alcohol misuse, county lines/dangerous drugs 
networks and drug related deaths. 

47.From the HWB perspective, the focus needs to be on where projects are 
transformational and can be scaled up to deliver change. It is proposed that 
whilst the overall priority for the JHWS is healthy lifestyles, the initial focus would 
be healthy weight. Smoking could be overseen by the ICS structure to provide 
health service focused solutions. Drugs and alcohol is overseen through the 
Safer Gloucestershire partnership. The HWB has a clear role in the healthy 
weight agenda as a system wide, complex issue. 

Page 13



Early years 
Ambition: 
48.To give every child has the best start in life.

Rationale and scope: 
49.The early years are a crucial time for children’s development. It is a time of 

opportunity to enhance development and outcomes throughout life.  
Unfortunately, the first five years can also represent a period of heightened risk 
for some families.

50.The aim is to ensure early intervention across health and local authorities from 
conception to age five.

Main areas of focus:
51.The key areas include:

 Attachment and responsive parenting
 School readiness
 Vulnerable children
 Childhood poverty
 Healthy lifestyles including oral health
 Childhood immunisations in 0-5 year olds
 Breastfeeding
 Smoking in pregnancy and early years
 ACEs

Current governance:
52.This is a partnership agenda which will need to work with an existing and 

emerging structure of work programmes and governance which includes:
 Better Births
 Children and Families Partnership Framework
 Children’s Improvement Plan
 Safeguarding Children and the new Working Together guidance
 Child Friendly Gloucestershire
 Mental Health Trailblazer Pilot
 ACEs Partnership
 The aim is to achieve better continuity, integration, efficiency, reduced 

duplication and ultimately improved outcomes.  

53.There is currently no single overarching partnership for a co-ordinated approach 
to achieving this ambition. Further work is required to scope this JHWS priority 
and to understand where the HWB can add value. 

Page 14



Housing
Ambition: 
54.To promote health and wellbeing through improvements in quality, affordability, 

availability and suitability of housing. 

Rationale and scope:
55.The age, condition and affordability of housing have a number of health 

consequences relating to overcrowding, fuel poverty and excessive cold, 
respiratory problems and emotional wellbeing. 

56.Poor housing has an impact on the health outcomes for children and older people 
in particular, including psychological distress and mental disorders, with people in 
crowded conditions tending to suffer from multiple deprivation. People who do not 
have access to affordable housing and may be homeless are more likely to 
experience worse health outcomes than the general population.

Main areas of focus: 
57.A health impact assessment (HIA) is a tool which helps ensure that health and 

wellbeing are being properly considered in planning policies and proposals. 
However, the main elements of this can be used to help us define the key areas 
to focus on for improving housing and health more generally. The main 
considerations include the following (with the addition of ‘housing for those in 
vulnerable circumstances’ as a local priority): 

(a) Housing design and quality – making sure that new housing is designed and 
built in a way that promotes health and wellbeing and minimises negative 
impacts. This might include internal space standards, energy efficiency, cycle 
storage, outside green space, lifetime housing, etc.

(b) Housing conditions – making sure that existing housing stock in the county is 
of a good standard that does not harm health, e.g. heating/insulation, damp, 
trip hazards, etc.

(c) Homelessness and housing for those in vulnerable circumstances – ensuring 
people have access to housing, in particular those who are in vulnerable 
circumstances due to e.g. mental health problems, substance misuse, 
learning disability

(d) Housing with care – ensuring there are sufficient housing with care options so 
that people can live as independently as possible for as long as possible

(e) Local natural environment – ensuring ‘green infrastructure’ is built in to and 
not reduced or eliminated by local housing developments so that residents 
can realise the health benefits.

(f) Surrounding physical infrastructure – ensuring the area around the home 
promotes good health and wellbeing and does not have a detrimental impact.

Page 15



(g) Surrounding community infrastructure – ensuring the community around the 
home supports good health and wellbeing and does not have a detrimental 
impact.

Current governance:
58.Understandably, there is no one single board which addresses housing and 

health county wide. Relevant groups and boards include:
 Strategic Housing Programme Board
 Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Group/Strategic Directors 
 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
 Joint Core Strategy Planning Delivery Group
 County Planners Group
 County Homelessness Implementation Group (CHIG)

59.Housing is also linked to the Vision 2050 Boards; Central Gloucestershire Growth 
Board/Central Gloucestershire City Region Board, Severn Vale Board and Rural 
Ambition Board. 

60.This list is by no means exhaustive and fundamentally, it does not reflect District 
level boards.

Conclusions and recommendations
61.Each of the seven priorities are at different stages of development. It is important 

that the emphasis is maintained on where the HWB can truly add value to each of 
these priorities. The real focus of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy needs 
to be on what it is we can only tackle in partnership, so any accompanying action 
plan becomes succinct and an instrument to advance those areas. 

62. It is important to recognise the need for local areas to be able to adopt bespoke 
approaches to how they approach the seven priorities

63. It is recommended that the healthy lifestyles priority in the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy has a focus on healthy weight initially. 

64. It is recommended that further scoping is required for the early years and housing 
priorities to better understand current governance arrangement, gaps and where 
the HWB role can add value. 

65.This paper highlights some of the current governance arrangements around each 
of the priorities and the next step is to agree how we utilise current structures, the 
District Councils and Integrated Locality Partnerships to link with the HWB. 

---- END ----

Page 16



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Action on ACEs Progress Report 

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information and decision

Sponsor ACC Julian Moss / Sarah Scott

Author Tanya Richardson / Hannah Elliott

Organisation On behalf of the ACEs Panel

Key Issues:  

The ACEs Strategy sets out a vision for a resilient Gloucestershire where 
communities and organisations are aware of, able to talk about and take 
action on ACEs.  

Significant progress has been made in implementing the ACEs Strategy since 
it was ratified by the HWBB in July 2018.  

Recommendations to Board: 

 Note progress being made in implementing the ACEs Strategy
 Provide visible leadership to support ongoing implementation of the ACEs 

Strategy across Gloucestershire by acting as ACEs Champions and 
releasing your staff to do the same.  

Financial/Resource Implications: 

Members of the HWBB have contributed to the costs of the Action on ACEs 
communications campaign and conference in addition to staff time.

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



1. Purpose

This paper outlines the significant progress that has been made since the ACEs 
Strategy was ratified by the HWBB in July 2018.   

2. What is the ACEs1 Strategy?

The ACEs Strategy sets out a vision for a resilient Gloucestershire where 
communities and organisations are aware of, able to talk about and take action on 
ACEs.  It gives a message of hope; that the potential negative effects of ACEs can 
be overcome by building resilience, and that ACEs can be prevented in future 
generations.  It encourages people to change the question from ‘what’s wrong with 
you’ to ‘what’s happened to you’.  It gives people a common language for talking 
about adversity and resilience.  The Strategy is summarised in the picture below.  
The full strategy along with other resources is available on the website 
www.actionaces.org 

1 ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences) are specified traumatic events occurring before the age of 
18.  They include direct experiences (such as sexual, physical or verbal abuse) and indirect 
experiences (such as parental separation, substance misuse, mental illness, incarceration or domestic 
violence).

Page 18

http://www.actionaces.org/


The ACEs Strategy seeks to build a social movement that recognises the potential 
lifelong impacts of adversity in childhood and takes action to stop childhood harm.  
The concept of ‘viral change2’ has been used to establish a network of ACEs 
Champions, thus effectively mobilising people across the county to implement the 
ACEs Strategy.  This is a different approach to strategy development and 
implementation than those that have previously been used in Gloucestershire.

The ACEs Strategy explicitly acknowledges the vital role of communities in acting on 
ACEs and building resilience; agencies cannot do this work alone.

Parts of the system, particularly Children’s Social Care, have been working to tackle 
childhood adversity for many years.  The ACEs approach seeks to build on that work 
rather than replace it, through the development of a common language and approach 
to overcoming the impact of multiple ACEs by all agencies and communities working 
with children and young people.  The insights provided by ACEs will help to identify 
and better respond to children and young people experiencing adversity at an earlier 
stage to prevent their drift high intensity / high costs parts of the system.

The ACEs Strategy is not just about children; the impacts of ACEs reach into 
adulthood causing disease, increased reliance on statutory services and potentially 
early death.  The implementation of the ACEs Strategy provides an opportunity to 
ensure a shared understanding about the manifestation of ACEs in adulthood and to 
consolidate existing best practice within a common framework.  This common 
understanding could support the delivery of effective interventions across the broader 
health, housing and social care system designed to build both communities’ and 
personal resilience that support an individuals’ long term recovery, reducing the risk 
of harm and repeat crises.  Ultimately this could help prevent the further perpetuation 
of an inter-generational cycle of adversity within families.

3. What progress has been made in implementing the ACEs Strategy?

Progress against each of the seven strategy objectives is described below.  Further 
information regarding leads for each objective and sub-group is available in Appendix 
1.

3.1 Objective 1: Communications Campaign

More than 200 people have signed up to become ACEs Champions.  Champions 
come from a range of organisations, communities, experiences and backgrounds.

More than 800 people have attended events communicating the key messages from 
the ACEs Strategy to date as outlined below.

 VCSE Event September 2018
More than 100 people attended an ACEs event for the voluntary and community 
sector jointly hosted by GCC and Gloucestershire Police on behalf of the ACEs 
Panel.

2 5 min video on viral change by Dr Leandro Herrero here 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=se0atiNRSPk

Page 19

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=se0atiNRSPk


 Action on ACEs Conference November 2018
More than 200 people attended the Action on ACEs Conference on 8th November 
2018, including the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
other elected members, senior executives from GCC, GCCG, GHNHSFT, 
2gether, Police and representatives of voluntary and community groups.  The 
Conference was co-chaired by Chris Spencer and ACC Julian Moss, with Sarah 
Scott providing the closing remarks.  Ben Perks, UNICEF Representative and 
Keynote Speaker at the conference, spoke about Gloucestershire’s ‘unique 
partnership approach to ACEs’, which brings together public sector organisations 
and the community, to help build resilience.  In his video interview he remarked 
that he had spoken about ACEs in 27 different countries, but had never seen the 
level of engagement he saw at our Conference.  The Conference generated 
significant media interest with a piece on BBC Radio Gloucestershire drive-time 
(including interviews with Cllr Tim Harman and Andy Dempsey), and an article in 
Gloucestershire Live which was picked up by national newspapers.

 Resilience Screenings December 2018 – ongoing
Almost 500 people have attended screenings of the Resilience documentary, a 
powerful one hour film on the science of ACEs and the hope that comes from 
building resilience3.  These screenings are chaired by a member of the ACEs 
Panel and include an introduction to the work going on across Gloucestershire 
followed by a screening of the documentary and a Q&A session.  Screenings 
have already taken place in Stroud, Cirencester and Lydney.  Further screenings 
are planned for Cheltenham, Tewkesbury and Gloucester.

Future events include:
 Members Seminar 20th March 2019

This event will be chaired by Cllr Roger Wilson and include an introduction to the 
science of ACEs and work already going on to build resilient communities across 
Gloucestershire from ACC Moss and Sarah Scott.  This will be followed by a 
screening of the Resilience documentary followed by a Q&A session.

 Conference June 2020
The next conference is planned for June 2020.

In addition to these events there are regular communications via twitter (#actionaces) 
with 429 followers and 73,000 impressions to date.  The first quarterly newsletter was 
released last month with an update on progress on the strategy, a spotlight on health 
visiting, the Conference report, and a blog from Chief Inspector Tim Wood on what 
becoming ACEs aware has meant to him.

3.2 Objective 2: Training

This objective is being led by Dr Imelda Bennett, Designated Doctor, Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group. Work includes the development of a knowledge and 
skills framework, which is currently being consulted on with a number of partners and 
will be launched later in 2019. ACEs awareness training packages are also being 
developed alongside a suite of tools and resources. 

3 2 minute trailer available here https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=We2BqmjHN0k

Page 20

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=We2BqmjHN0k


Gloucestershire Constabulary have been delivering ACE awareness sessions 
following requests from settings across the county, including schools, Early Help, 
Educational Psychologists and community partners.  Almost 800 people have 
attended these sessions between October 2018 and February 2018.

3.3 Objective 3: Partnership work with Communities

This objective is being led by Paul Stephenson, Chief Executive of Cheltenham 
Borough Homes and it is supported by the communities sub group. 

Developing resilience through access to a trusted adult in childhood, supportive 
friends, positive attachments and being engaged in community activities has been 
shown to improve outcomes even in those who experience high levels of ACEs.  This 
relies on active, thriving and resilient communities.  

Two community pilots are being developed in Kingsholm, Gloucester (led by 
Gloucester City Homes) and St Pauls in Cheltenham (led by Cheltenham Borough 
Homes).  These pilots will provide valuable information through testing out different 
approaches to building resilient communities acting on ACEs.

An ACEs education sub group has also been set up, led by Kevin Day, Head teacher 
at Belmont School.  The group is working to implement a consistent county wide 
approach in schools across the county that brings together Restorative Practice with 
the awareness of ACEs, resilience and trauma.  This will be built into the Trailblazer 
programme4 currently being developed and link closely with Early Help.

3.4 Objective 4: Information and Resources

Access to information and resources is a key part of our awareness raising activities. 
The new Action on ACEs website acts as a hub for local and global ACEs resources. 
It includes videos, links to expert research, support networks and the creation of a 
Gloucestershire community asset map.

The website has had more than 13,000 page views since November 2018 with 
almost 3,000 users.

3.5 Objective 5: Distribution of ACEs

Our understanding of the distribution and prevalence of ACEs in Gloucestershire is 
increasing daily as more and more organisations and communities start to use their 
understanding of ACEs and resilience in their work to support the needs of children, 
young people and families.  

An understanding of ACEs is being used in partnership work in Operation Mamushi, 
targeting young people being criminally exploited.  The majority of these young 
people have an ACEs score of 4 or more; by taking an ACEs approach we are able 

4 Gloucestershire has been awarded £5 million by NHS England to deliver new Mental Health Support 
Teams in Schools.  https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/gloucestershire-secures-5m-to-improve-
mental-health-support-for-school-children/ 

Page 21

https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/gloucestershire-secures-5m-to-improve-mental-health-support-for-school-children/
https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/gloucestershire-secures-5m-to-improve-mental-health-support-for-school-children/


to develop support plans that focus on building resilience and reducing the impact of 
their trauma.  

3.6 Objective 6: Policies, Strategies and Contracts

We are hearing many stories of how an understanding of ACEs is already being built 
into organisational policies, strategies and contracts; thus giving people a common 
language to talk about adversity and resilience.  

Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning at Gloucestershire County Council, has developed a range of toolkits 
to help support commissioned providers to have a conversation around ACEs and 
resilience. These toolkits will also be piloted in a range of other settings to see how 
they are transferrable across other service contexts.  

The principles and practices designed to address the manifestation of ACEs for 
adults are already embedded across existing Community and Accommodation Based 
Service contracts for adults with complex needs (e.g. Gloucestershire Domestic 
Abuse Support Services; Homeless Adults with Complex Needs and Chaotic 
Lifestyles; Community Drug and Alcohol Services and Community Based Support).  
The ACEs Strategy provides a framework to ensure a consistent approach across 
these services as new contracts are awarded.

Gloucestershire Constabulary is working towards becoming a trauma-informed 
organisation, with the vision of putting ‘compassion, kindness and relationships at the 
heart of keeping people safe from harm’.  

3.7 Objective 7: Evaluation

This objective is being led by Dr Tanya Richardson, Consultant in Public Health, 
Gloucestershire County Council. An evaluation framework is being developed that 
will capture the stories that come from viral change, alongside ‘fit for purpose’ 
quantitative metrics to help us demonstrate the impact we are having.  We are 
currently exploring possible evaluation partnerships with external institutions.

There is now a page on our website https://www.actionaces.org/stories/submissions/ 
where people can share a personal or professional experience of ACEs and 
resilience, along with insights around a change of approach, new ways of working or 
creating new cultures.   

We are receiving numerous requests from individuals and organisations across 
England and beyond to find out more about Gloucestershire’s unique partnership 
approach to building resilience communities that are taking action on ACEs.  A 
Summit is therefore being planned for June 2019 in order to showcase the work 
going on and the learning so far.  

We were invited to contribute a case study for a forthcoming policy document from 
Public Health England on reducing offending and re-offending in children and young 
people.  

Page 22

https://www.actionaces.org/stories/submissions/


P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 
Report Title 
 

Annual update to ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind, 5 year 
Transformation Plan to Improve Children’s Mental Health’. 

Item for 
decision or 
information? 

For information 

Sponsor 
 

Kim Forey 

Author 
 

Helen Ford 

Organisation 
 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Key Issues:   
 
During 2015 all local areas were required to produce a five year plan to 
transform support for children’s mental health. ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in 
Mind, 5 Year Transformation Plan for Children’s Mental Health’ was signed off 
by the Health & Wellbeing Board (HWBB), Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) and the CCG, and submitted for approval to NHS England in October 
2015 with excellent feedback.  
 
The CCG are required by NHS England to produce an annual update of the 
Local Transformation Plan which is published on the Clinical Commissioning 
Group Website.  
 
The aim of this refresh is to reflect local progress with transforming the system 
of support for children and young people and further ambitions based on our 
local developing work in this high priority area.  
 
The draft update has been widely circulated to partners for comment and 
amendments have been made to the plan following feedback. The CCG have 
approved the update. 
 
Of note this year is our achievement in becoming a ‘Trailblazer’ site. 
 
The Green Paper, published in December 2017, detailed proposals for 
expanding access to mental health care for children and young people by 
providing additional support through schools and colleges and reducing 
waiting times for treatment. The new services are expected to be rolled out to 
between a third and a fifth of the country by 2023-24, with further 
improvements for children and young people’s services promised in the NHS 
long-term plan. 
 
In December 2018, the Government announced Trailblazer sites, of which 
Gloucestershire was successful in securing £5m funding up until 2021. This 
funding will support the implementation of four Mental Health Support Teams 
(MHSTs) in Gloucestershire  to develop models of early intervention on mild to 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



moderate mental health issues, such as exam stress, behavioural difficulties 
or friendship issues, as well as providing help to staff within a school and 
college setting. Only 2/25 areas across the country will be implementing as 
many as 4 MHSTs, Gloucestershire being of them.   
 
As well as piloting Mental Health Support Teams, 12 sites across the country 
including Gloucestershire have been selected to trial a four-week waiting 
time for referral to treatment for specialist children and young people’s mental 
health services, building on the expansion of NHS services already underway. 
(Please see attached separate briefing) 
 
Recommendations to Board:  
 
Note  

 the good progress made with implementing the plan 
 achieving national Trailblazer status 

 

Financial/Resource Implications:  
 
Funding associated with the Future in Mind Programme and NHS England 
funding associated with the national Trailblazer Programme. 

 

Page 26



1

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

May 2018

Draft v2

NHS

Find nearest se
rvices in your area, 

info on when to use them and check 

opening hours and waiting tim
es.

Latest Campaign News >

12:00

0:00 AM

Find nearest services in your area,

info on when to use them and check

opening hours and waiting tim
es.

Waiting Times

Websites
and apps

GP

Youth
Worker

NHS

NHS

Specialist
Services

Education

Counsellors

Peer Support

NHS

School
Nurses

Find nearest se
rvices in your area, 

info on when to use them and check 

opening hours and waiting tim
es.

Latest Campaign News >

12:00

0:00 AM

Find nearest services in your area,

info on when to use them and check

opening hours and waiting tim
es.

Waiting Times

Telephone
support 

Thriving, confident and resilient young people

Joined up services focused on you
Improved public awareness and understanding

Th
e 

be
st 

po
ssi

ble c
are, support and treatment when and where you need it

Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind
2018 update 

to the local transformation plan for improving the mental health 
and wellbeing of our children and young people 2015 - 2020  

Community
and Voluntary
Organisations

Family

Self
Care

Page 27



2

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

This update of ‘Gloucestershire’s Future 
in Mind 5 Year Transformation Plan 
for improving Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health’ should be 
read in conjunction with the original 
‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind’ 
document, which remains the main 
reference point. The original plan and 
subsequent annual refreshed plans 
can be accessed at https://www.
gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/
publications/.
The purpose of the 2018 Local 
Transformation Plan (LTP) update is to 
provide an overview of progress in the 
past year in transforming the system 
of support for children and young 

people, celebrate our achievements and 
consider our future delivery challenges. 
The refresh also allows us to consider 
how exciting developments, such as the 
Mental Health School Teams trailblazer 
and developing support for parents and 
carers will enhance our strategy further, 
and acknowledge programmes which are 
ongoing in their implementation. 

Children’s emotional wellbeing and 
mental health remains a key priority in 
Gloucestershire and through this strategy, 
and subsequent refresh, we build on our 
strong commitment to support children 
and their families. 

1. Introduction 

2

Page 28



3

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

2. A 2018 Update to the Needs Assessment 

In August 2015, a children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing needs 
assessment was produced to inform the development of Gloucestershire’s Future in 
Mind Transformation Plan. As part of the 2018 update to the Transformation Plan, 
its authors have requested updates to certain sections of the needs assessment. In 
2017/18 we have noted the trend in increases in the number of children and young 
people accessing services, particularly those provided in the voluntary and community 
sector and explore this below.

2.1  Young People’s Mental Health Needs 
There has been no update to national prevalence data since the 2015 needs 
assessment, which used data from a 2004 Office for National Statistics (ONS) survey 
to estimate the prevalence of mental illness amongst children and young people in 
England.

However, we have carried out a brief review of those indicators summarised in 
the Public Health England (PHE) Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Profile, where there has been a significant change in Gloucestershire since 
the last available data. As such, this should not be considered a comprehensive needs 
assessment but an update on a number of key local issues. 

2.1.1  Self-harm 

One key indicator which has improved in Gloucestershire is the rate of admissions to 
hospital for self-harm (age 10-24). Whilst this remains higher than the national rate, 
there has been an improvement and Gloucestershire now performs better than the 
South West region. 

Page 29



4

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

Figure 1. Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm: per 100,000 population aged 10-24

There are ongoing developments in Gloucestershire with the aim to support children and 
young people who self-harm which are discussed in more detail below.

2.1.2  Key issues for children and young people’s mental health 

Anxiety, worry and stress remain one of the key issues for children and young people 
accessing face to face counselling during 2017/18 with 84% of those surveyed stating that 
this was their reason for seeking help. At a low-moderate level, counselling is provided by a 
voluntary and community sector provider in Gloucestershire, TiC+. TiC+ utilise the YP core 
for all young people engaged in face to face counselling and 83% reported a measurable 
improvement in their emotional wellbeing following the counselling support. 

2.1.3  Risk factors

In terms of risk factors, there have been some improvements in Gloucestershire in the 
percentage of children eligible for Free School Meals or living in poverty. However, the 
percentage of children who become the subject of a child protection plan for a second or 
subsequent time has increased slightly and remains higher than the regional and national 
rate. (N.B. Although the percentage has increased, the number has reduced from 189 to 
156. This is because the rate is expressed as a percentage of all new child protection cases 
during the year, which will also change year to year.)

 

4 
 

 
Figure 1. Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm: per 100,000 population aged 10-24 

 
There are ongoing developments in Gloucestershire with the aim to support children and young people who 
self-harm which are discussed in more detail below. 
 
2.1.2 Key issues for children and young people’s mental health. Anxiety, worry and stress remain one 
of the key issues for children and young people accessing face to face counselling during 2017/18 with 
84% of those surveyed stating that this was their reason for seeking help. At a low-moderate level, 
counselling is provided by a voluntary and community sector provider in Gloucestershire, TiC+. TiC+ utilise 
the YP core for all young people engaged in face to face counselling and 83% reported a measurable 
improvement in their emotional wellbeing following the counselling support.  
 
2.1.3 Risk factors. In terms of risk factors, there have been some improvements in Gloucestershire in the 
percentage of children eligible for Free School Meals or living in poverty. However, the percentage of 
children who become the subject of a child protection plan for a second or subsequent time has increased 
slightly and remains higher than the regional and national rate. (N.B. Although the percentage has 
increased, the number has reduced from 189 to 156. This is because the rate is expressed as a percentage 
of all new child protection cases during the year, which will also change year to year.) 
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

00
,0

00
 

Year 

Gloucestershire

South West

England

Page 30



5

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

Figure 2. Repeat child protection cases: % of children who became subject of a child 
protection plan for a second or subsequent time

We know that some young people are more vulnerable to developing poor mental health. 
The 2015 needs assessment summarised this vulnerability across the Gloucestershire 
population, but the PHE profile highlights an increase in the % of school aged pupils in the 
county who have a learning disability from 2.1% in 2013 to 7.7% in 2017. This is higher than 
both the England rate (5.6%) and South West rate (5.7%). Because this indicator uses number 
of pupils with statements of SEN or as School Action Plus where primary need is a learning 
disability, this may reflect effective identification and support rather than a higher prevalence. 
However, taking this into account, developments in provision for children and young people 
with a learning disability have been taking place, described in more detail below.

2.1.4  Online Pupil Survey
During 2018, a new Online Pupil Survey was undertaken, with children and young people in 
Gloucestershire responding with vital information about their health and wellbeing, including 
their Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Score (WEMWBS) and their experience of anxiety 
and self-harm. It also asked about a range of other contributory factors, including new 
questions relating to Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), which will help us to identify the 
potential scale of local need emerging from risk factors such as physical, emotional and sexual 
abuse and parental mental illness, substance misuse, separation and incarceration. At the time 
of writing this update, the results of this survey have not yet been published. However, this 
local intelligence will continue to be used to enhance the implementation of our plan and its 
refinement as it becomes available.

 

5 
 

 
Figure 2. Repeat child protection cases: % of children who became subject of a child protection plan 
for a second or subsequent time 

 
We know that some young people are more vulnerable to developing poor mental health. The 2015 needs 
assessment summarised this vulnerability across the Gloucestershire population, but the PHE profile 
highlights an increase in the % of school aged pupils in the county who have a learning disability from 2.1% 
in 2013 to 7.7% in 2017. This is higher than both the England rate (5.6%) and South West rate (5.7%). 
Because this indicator uses number of pupils with statements of SEN or as School Action Plus where 
primary need is a learning disability, this may reflect effective identification and support rather than a higher 
prevalence. However, taking this into account, developments in provision for children and young people 
with a learning disability have been taking place, described in more detail below. 
 
2.1.4 Online Pupil Survey. During 2018, a new Online Pupil Survey was undertaken, with children and 
young people in Gloucestershire responding with vital information about their health and wellbeing, 
including their Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Score (WEMWBS) and their experience of anxiety and 
self-harm. It also asked about a range of other contributory factors, including new questions relating to 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), which will help us to identify the potential scale of local need 
emerging from risk factors such as physical, emotional and sexual abuse and parental mental illness, 
substance misuse, separation and incarceration. At the time of writing this update, the results of this survey 
have not yet been published. However, this local intelligence will continue to be used to enhance the 
implementation of our plan and its refinement as it becomes available. 
 

2.2 Young People’s Use of Mental Health Services 
 
The NHS Benchmarking Network produced its annual National CAMHS Benchmarking Report (2017) which 
shows that nationally referral rates for Children’s Mental Health Services have shown a sustained increase 
since 2012 with a 56% increase in CAMHS referrals since 2012/13.  
 
 
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2014 2015 2016 2017

%
 

Year 

Gloucestershire

South West

England

Page 31



6

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

CYPS Referrals into Level 2/Level 3 Services

Table 1. CYPS Referrals into L2/L3 Services since 2014/2015

Number of young 
people referred to 
CYPS

Number of referrals 
accepted by CYPS

% annual change 
in the number of 
young  people 
being seen by CYPS

2014/15 2920 1734

2015/16 3233 1951 12.5% increase

2016/17 3032 1829 6% decrease

2017/18 3206 1907 4% increase

Number of young 
people referred to 
TiC+

Number of young 
people who 
engaged with TiC+

% annual change 
in the number of 
young  people 
being seen by TiC+

2014/15 445 363

2015/16 669 523 44% increase

2016/17 863 729 39% increase

2017/18 1076 958 31% increase

In Gloucestershire, although overall CYPS referral rates have remained static, there has been a 
relatively steady increase in children and young people being appropriately referred into services 
resulting in a measurable increase in the number of children and young people being accepted 
into CYPS for assessment and ongoing interventions. The service reports that children and 
young people with increasingly complex needs are accessing help from CYPS. 

We cannot be sure whether the increase in referrals is due to a genuine rise in prevalence; better 
awareness of available support and less stigma about seeking help; or more accessible services. 
Anecdotal evidence from local professionals suggests all of these factors are playing a part and 
that the additional availability, particularly of earlier interventions such as online counselling, is 
meeting previously unmet needs identified in the first iteration of Gloucestershire’s Future in 
Mind. 

Number of young people accessing TiC+ face to face counselling

Table 2. Referrals into TiC+ Services since 2014/2015

Locally, between 2014/15 and 2016/17, we saw a 101% rise in the number of children and 
young people engaging with the face to face counselling services provided by TiC+. This 
increase has continued in 2017/18, with the additional online counselling provision provided by 
TiC+ broadening access to support.

2.2  Young People’s Use of Mental Health Services

The NHS Benchmarking Network produced its annual National CAMHS Benchmarking Report 
(2017) which shows that nationally referral rates for Children’s Mental Health Services have 
shown a sustained increase since 2012 with a 56% increase in CAMHS referrals since 2012/13. 

Page 32



7

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

Source of referrals 
90% of young people self-refer into TiC+ or are referred by their parents.  However, when 
asked, 37.4% of the young people say they were signposted to TiC+ by their GP and a further 
25.3% signposted by their school or college. 

Figure 3. Source of referral into TiC+ services

3. Our continued engagement  
Our Transformation Plan is a living document and has been co-produced with children and 
young people, their families and carers, commissioning partners, GPs, providers and key 
stakeholders working  in the field to ensure the views and experiences of those who have, are 
or may use services and those who deliver them are listened to and respected. 

3.1  Children and young people 
Working with young people from Stroud Youth Council, Gloucestershire Young Carers and 
the Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young People, our engagement activities have 
included:

 Co-production of the One Page Profile for the Personalised Commissioning Pilot for Children 
in Care, locally known as My Life My Plan with our Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 
Ambassadors. Furthermore the project has engaged with the Stroud District Youth Council 
and received feedback on project documentation aimed at children aged 11-18 years old to 
ensure it is appropriate to the age range. 

 Feedback has been gathered from the children involved in the Schools Link Pilot Project 
including production of a short film from pupils and staff at Berry Hill Primary School, in 
Gloucestershire highlighting how they are tackling mental health both in and out of 
the classroom

 The Online Pupil Survey has been refreshed in 2018, the results of which will be published in 
the autumn.

 

7 
 

 

Source of referrals  
90% of young people self-refer into TiC+ or are referred by their parents.  However, when asked, 37.4% of 
the young people say they were signposted to TiC+ by their GP and a further 25.3% signposted by their 
school or college.  

 

 

Figure 3. Source of referral into TiC+ services 

3. Our continued engagement   
 
Our Transformation Plan is a living document and has been co-produced with children and young people, 
their families and carers, commissioning partners, GPs, providers and key stakeholders working  in the field 
to ensure the views and experiences of those who have, are or may use services and those who deliver 
them are listened to and respected.  
 

3.1 Children and young people  
 
Working with young people from Stroud Youth Council, Gloucestershire Young Carers and the 
Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young People, our engagement activities have included: 

 
• Co-production of the One Page Profile for the Personalised Commissioning Pilot for Children in 

Care, locally known as My Life My Plan with our Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 
Ambassadors. Furthermore the project has engaged with the Stroud District Youth Council and 
received feedback on project documentation aimed at children aged 11-18 years old to ensure it is 
appropriate to the age range.  

• Feedback has been gathered from the children involved in the Schools Link Pilot Project including 
production of a short film from pupils and staff at Berry Hill Primary School, in Gloucestershire 
highlighting how they are tackling mental health both in and out of the classroom 

• The Online Pupil Survey has been refreshed in 2018, the results of which will be published in the 
autumn. 

Page 33



8

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

 During August 2017, 15 GCC Ambassadors 
helped develop and test a youth version of 
the Public Health Nursing consultation to 
inform proposed School Nursing Changes. 

 Ambassadors, Young Gloucestershire, 
Gloucestershire Young Carers and many 
other organisations engaged with a 
recent “Action on ACES” event and have 
subsequently signed up to Gloucestershire’s 
Strategy to tackle ACES with a view to 
become an ACEs champion. 

An engagement event with children and 
young people was held to review the priorities 
set out in our original Future in Mind Strategy, 
looking at ongoing work and identifying 
emerging priorities to inform our 2018 refresh. 
The approach to the session featured a “you 
said, we did” activity and encouraged young 
people to talk openly about work being done 
to date. 

Young people commented that they were less 
informed of our On Your Mind website. On 

review of page users, this has in fact increased 
129% from 8,236 in 2016/17 to 18,832 in 
2017/18. In response to feedback received 
we will however take action to relaunch the 
website including appropriate communication 
to schools via existing relationships built 
through the Schools Pilot and promotion 
of our informative film found: https://www.
youtube.com/watch?v=PBhx2JceJJI 

Further feedback from the event suggested that children and young people are aware 
and better informed about services such as TiC+. This is evidenced by the increase in 
engagement from children with TiC+ detailed within item 2.2 of this plan.

 

8 
 

• During August 2017, 15 GCC Ambassadors helped develop and test a youth version of the Public 
Health Nursing consultation to inform proposed School Nursing Changes.  

• Ambassadors, Young Gloucestershire, Gloucestershire Young Carers and many other 
organisations engaged with a recent “Action on ACES” event and have subsequently signed up to 
Gloucestershire’s Strategy to tackle ACES with a view to become an ACEs champion.  
 

An engagement event with children and young people was held to review the priorities set out in our 
original Future in Mind Strategy, looking at ongoing work and identifying emerging priorities to inform our 
2018 refresh. The approach to the session featured a “you said, we did” activity and encouraged young 
people to talk openly about work being done to date.  

Young people commented that they were less informed of our On Your Mind website. On review of page 
users, this has in fact increased 129% from 8,236 in 2016/17 to 18,832 in 2017/18. In response to feedback 
received we will however take action to relaunch the website including appropriate communication to 
schools via existing relationships built through the Schools Pilot and promotion of our informative film 
found: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PBhx2JceJJI  

 

Further feedback from the event suggested that children and young people are aware and better informed 
about services such as TiC+. This is evidenced by the increase in engagement from children with TiC+ 
detailed within item 2.2 of this plan.  

 

 

 

 

8 
 

• During August 2017, 15 GCC Ambassadors helped develop and test a youth version of the Public 
Health Nursing consultation to inform proposed School Nursing Changes.  

• Ambassadors, Young Gloucestershire, Gloucestershire Young Carers and many other 
organisations engaged with a recent “Action on ACES” event and have subsequently signed up to 
Gloucestershire’s Strategy to tackle ACES with a view to become an ACEs champion.  
 

An engagement event with children and young people was held to review the priorities set out in our 
original Future in Mind Strategy, looking at ongoing work and identifying emerging priorities to inform our 
2018 refresh. The approach to the session featured a “you said, we did” activity and encouraged young 
people to talk openly about work being done to date.  

Young people commented that they were less informed of our On Your Mind website. On review of page 
users, this has in fact increased 129% from 8,236 in 2016/17 to 18,832 in 2017/18. In response to feedback 
received we will however take action to relaunch the website including appropriate communication to 
schools via existing relationships built through the Schools Pilot and promotion of our informative film 
found: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PBhx2JceJJI  

 

Further feedback from the event suggested that children and young people are aware and better informed 
about services such as TiC+. This is evidenced by the increase in engagement from children with TiC+ 
detailed within item 2.2 of this plan.  

 

 

 

 

8 
 

• During August 2017, 15 GCC Ambassadors helped develop and test a youth version of the Public 
Health Nursing consultation to inform proposed School Nursing Changes.  

• Ambassadors, Young Gloucestershire, Gloucestershire Young Carers and many other 
organisations engaged with a recent “Action on ACES” event and have subsequently signed up to 
Gloucestershire’s Strategy to tackle ACES with a view to become an ACEs champion.  
 

An engagement event with children and young people was held to review the priorities set out in our 
original Future in Mind Strategy, looking at ongoing work and identifying emerging priorities to inform our 
2018 refresh. The approach to the session featured a “you said, we did” activity and encouraged young 
people to talk openly about work being done to date.  

Young people commented that they were less informed of our On Your Mind website. On review of page 
users, this has in fact increased 129% from 8,236 in 2016/17 to 18,832 in 2017/18. In response to feedback 
received we will however take action to relaunch the website including appropriate communication to 
schools via existing relationships built through the Schools Pilot and promotion of our informative film 
found: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PBhx2JceJJI  

 

Further feedback from the event suggested that children and young people are aware and better informed 
about services such as TiC+. This is evidenced by the increase in engagement from children with TiC+ 
detailed within item 2.2 of this plan.  

 

 

 

Page 34



9

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

3.2  Parents and carers
We have also engaged with local parent 
groups. During the summer we produced two 
surveys, one for professionals and another for 
parents/carers which were completed by 71 
and 321 people retrospectively.  The aim of 
the survey was to understand how parents/
carers want to access local information about 
guidance and available services and what 
method of support they would want to be 
made available to them. The feedback gathered 
has been analysed and has subsequently 
informed a pilot project to support parents and 
carers (for more information see item 4.1.2)

 

We actively promoted Future in Mind to GPs and other practice staff through 
an exhibition at the annual Commissioning Event at Cheltenham Racecourse.

3.3  Key stakeholders 
We have continued to work with key partners from across the county to 
develop our vision for services.  We have held quarterly engagement events 
with representatives from health, social care, education and the voluntary 
sector.  We also held an event in July to ask stakeholders what they would like 
in the plan going forward.

 • reducing stigma and raising awareness;

 • improving early support for children and young people;

 • providing additional support for parents and carers; 

 • ensuring consistency across the county; 

 • developing our local workforce across all sectors

Key messages continue to focus on: 

Page 35



10

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.  Progress with transforming support for children and    
 young people and taking the plan forward 

Our Transformation Plan takes a whole systems approach that is vital to transforming and 
making significant progress against a growing problem of increasing numbers of children with 
mental health difficulties. The key focus of our plan aims to:

  Address the gaps identified in our needs analysis

  Provide a balance between the need for more early intervention and prevention

  Meet the needs of those very vulnerable children and young people who achieve poorer   
 outcomes than most of the population.

There are 4 broad themes and layers of support based on our model of coordinated and 
flexible mental health support.

 

10 
 

 
 
We have been working hard as a partnership across agencies and with children and young people to 
implement our plan over the four layers of support identified in the plan. The following sections describe our 
progress as well as how we intend to take things forward.  

 
  We have been working hard as a partnership across agencies 

and with children and young people to implement our plan 
over the four layers of support identified in the plan. The 
following sections describe our progress as well as how we 
intend to take things forward. 

Page 36



11

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.1  Theme 1: Building resilience, information and advice, and early   
 intervention

Universal Support

4.1.1  Working to tackle stigma and normalise mental health. As a partnership we  
 continue to work to tackle stigma in schools and through other forums.

The Gloucestershire Tackling Stigma group have worked with the Girl Guides, devising a mental 
health awareness package as part of their Mental Health Awareness badge. They have also 
worked with the Stroud Youth Council to look at stigma. In addition, a stand normalising 
mental health is provided at the Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning1 (GHLL) annual 
conference where many schools are in attendance and at ‘The Day in the Life of a Teen’ event 
in Stroud.

The ‘5 Ways to Wellbeing’ are continuing to be utilised within school settings to encourage 
children and young people to have conversations about mental health and emotional 
wellbeing. Examples of how these interventions are utilised can be seen here: https://www.
youtube.com/watch?v=AI9v1sPRQQE). In addition, the Wildlife Trust is working with GHLL to 
utilise this approach in a number of schools in areas of the Forest of Dean and 59 ‘5 Ways to 
Wellbeing’ sessions for primary aged children have been carried out by Skillzone2. 

Gloucestershire has been successful in gaining Wave 1 Trailblazer status to test out the 
recommendations in the Governments Green Paper published this year which will ensure that 
work to tackle stigma and normalise mental health can continue in 18/19 and beyond through 
dedicated mental health support teams. This is discussed in more detail below.

  1https://www.ghll.org.uk/about-ghll/what-is-ghll/
  2https://skillzone.glosfire.gov.uk/the-centre/

4.1.2 Information and advice for parents

Parent and carer groups have told us that they 
need local information, guidance and support to 
enable them to better understand and support 
their child’s emotional needs. In response to this, 
webpages are in development which will provide 
information, advice and guidance for parents, 
including signposting to trusted sources of support. 
Furthermore, a survey has been undertaken with 
parents and carers in Gloucestershire to understand 
what method of support they would prefer when 
supporting their children and young people. Drop 
in sessions, a telephone advice line and anonymous 
text chat for parents and carers were the preferred 
methods. A pilot project has been set up to provide 
these services through TiC+. This will be trialled over 
a 2 year period to enable the approach to be fully 
tested and evaluated, beginning in April 2019.

Page 37



12

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

Figure 4. Feedback from parents and carers about the kind of emotional support they would find 
useful to support their families

4.1.3  Webpages for practitioners. Webpages have been developed for school based staff 
on the GHLL website. This provides:-

 Advice about emotional wellbeing issues

 Good practice examples that can be implemented in schools to improve emotional wellbeing

 Links to sources of support including a streamlined training matrix and access to all other 
training opportunities available in the county and advice.

Information about local and national support has been developed for GPs on the G-Care 
website. A pathway has also been developed to support GPs in referring or signposting to local 
mental health services.  Gloucestershire Self-Harm website now includes pages for parents, 
carers and professionals/practitioners to provide information and advice in supporting someone 
who is self-harming.

4.1.4  A Mental Health Champions award has been developed through GHLL which is 
being awarded to schools who recognise that the way they operate and approach wellbeing has 
a huge impact on the emotional health of pupils and staff (and on subsequent attainment). 

 We have 352 schools in Gloucestershire (this includes all types of settings e.g. primary, 
secondary, independent, colleges, special, alternative provision, hospital e.g., faith, academies  
and free schools) 

 To date 349 educational settings (99%) in Gloucestershire have registered an interest in the 
Mental Health Champions award through GHLL:

 • 260 of the educational settings are actively working towards the Mental Health   
 Champions award

 31 schools have achieved their Mental Health Champions Award –:                                    

 • 18  Primary schools 

 • 1 Infant school.

 • 6 Secondary schools,  

 • 2 Special Schools 

 • 4 Independent Schools 

 

12 
 

 

 
Figure 4. Feedback from parents and carers about the kind of emotional support they would find useful to 
support their families 

 
4.1.3 Webpages for practitioners. Webpages have been developed for school based staff on the GHLL 
website. This provides:- 

• Advice about emotional wellbeing issues 
• Good practice examples that can be implemented in schools to improve emotional wellbeing 
• Links to sources of support including a streamlined training matrix and access to all other training 

opportunities available in the county and advice. 
 
Information about local and national support has been developed for GPs on the G-Care website. A 
pathway has also been developed to support GPs in referring or signposting to local mental health 
services.  Gloucestershire Self-Harm website now includes pages for parents, carers and 
professionals/practitioners to provide information and advice in supporting someone who is self-harming. 

4.1.4 A Mental Health Champions award has been developed through GHLL which is being awarded to 
schools who recognise that the way they operate and approach wellbeing has a huge impact on the 
emotional health of pupils and staff (and on subsequent attainment).  

• We have 352 schools in Gloucestershire (this includes all types of settings e.g. primary, secondary, 
independent, colleges, special, alternative provision, hospital e.g., faith, academies  and free 
schools)  

• To date 349 educational settings (99%) in Gloucestershire have registered an interest in the Mental 
Health Champions award through GHLL: 

o  260 of the educational settings are actively working towards the Mental Health Champions 
award 

• 31 schools have achieved their Mental Health Champions Award –:                                     
o 18  Primary schools  
o 1 Infant school. 
o 6 Secondary schools,   
o 2 Special Schools  
o 4 Independent Schools  

• Currently 5 schools are waiting to go through the Quality Assurance Process Panel for approval for 
the award. This includes one secondary school and four primary schools. There will be more 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

What additional kind of information, advice and support would you
like to help you, or other family members to support your

child/children with emotional wellbeing and mental health?

A telephone support line

A website specifically for parents

A social media application where I can
ask questions of mental health
professionals
Drop in sessions with mental health
professionals

Training around supporting my child with
their emotional welbeing and mental
health
Peer support groups

Guidance in how to talk to my child about
their feelings, incl. self harm and suicidal
feelings if I am worried
Family support sessions

Page 38



13

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

 Currently 5 schools are waiting to go through the Quality Assurance Process Panel for approval 
for the award. This includes one secondary school and four primary schools. There will be more 
schools and a college going forward as the next date for schools to get their submissions in is 
December with the Quality assurance group meeting in January 2019.

 83% of Gloucestershire’s schools and colleges are working towards or actively achieved the 
Mental Health Champion Award since the launch in November 2016 at the GHLL conference.

During 2017/18 support to achieve the award has been developed including:

 A Whole School guide for schools has been developed called ‘Nurturing Schools: Whole School 
Approaches to Supporting Mental Health and Wellbeing. The guide includes information on 
how to develop ‘attachment friendly’ schools to support more vulnerable children and young 
people. The booklet links to relevant sections in the Mental Health Champions award as well as 
providing information and guidance. 

4.1.5  Facts 4 Life aims to help children to understand that mental wellbeing and physical 
health and illness are inextricably linked, they don’t always need medicine in order to get better, 
and good health and wellbeing is very much linked to their environment. Facts4Life is based on 
three key concepts: 

• ‘Riding the ups and downs’—as we move through life, our health status is constantly in flux;

• ‘Keeping balanced’—we are faced with many illnesses which our bodies can often respond 
naturally to, to maintain balance and health; 

• ‘Smoothing the path’—the bodily response to many illness challenges can be enhanced 
through making informed choices to engage in a variety of healthy lifestyle behaviours. 

Between 2015 and 2018 Facts4Life teacher training was delivered through 100 sessions to more 
than 1,000 Gloucestershire-based teachers. Evaluation of the initiative has shown that mental 
health was identified as a relevant concern for young people, and pupils highlighted examples of 
newly developed coping strategies resulting from Facts4Life. 

Page 39



14

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.2  Theme 2: Joined up support - schools, communities and GPs linked to  
 mental health support

Early help including workforce planning, development and training

4.2.1  Mandatory mental health training for staff in schools and in other 
universal or ‘non-mental health-specialist’ services. We believe that mental health is 
‘everybody’s business’ and as such, the workforce who are not ‘specialists’ in this area should 
nevertheless have a consistent level of knowledge and competence in mental health. This will 
make the workforce as a whole better able to identify need, provide support, and in turn be 
more resilient in the process, thereby reducing the demand for specialist services. An e-learning 
module has been developed for use across children’s services and is being rolled out to schools 
via training leads. Since its launch, 72 staff have been trained from primary schools, secondary 
schools, further education and colleges, special schools, School Nurses and alternative provision 
schools.           

4.2.2  Online access to counselling support has been piloted through a Voluntary and 
Community Sector organisation during 2016/17 and is a response to young people wanting 
to access support in different ways and an approach to providing cost effective services. This 
approach has been evaluated positively. The model ensures that young people can access 
support within a week of logging on and registering. Young people find the support helpful 
and some go on to have further face to face counselling. 94% of young people self-refer or are 
referred by their parents to the online counselling but are mostly signposted by their GP (49%) 
or by their school (22%). The model ensures that those waiting for face to face counselling 
are able to access this support quickly. Based on the evaluation, a procurement exercise was 
undertaken to commission this service. TiC+ were the successful bidders and a 3 year contract 
commenced in July 2018 for online counselling to continue. 

4.2.3  Joining up Schools and Mental Health.  Following on from our successful 
Department for Education (DfE)/NHS England (NHSE) national pilot in Stroud in 2016/17, 
Gloucestershire has been successful in gaining Wave 1 Trailblazer status to test out the 
recommendations in the Governments Green Paper published this year. The proposals in the 
Green Paper include:

 Every school and college will be encouraged to 
appoint a designated lead for mental health;

 Creating community-based Mental Health Support 
Teams (MHSTs), helping children and young people in 
schools and colleges; and

 Pilots in a small number of areas to test the feasibility 
of achieving and maintaining a 4-week waiting time 
for NHS children and young people’s mental health 
services 

The trailblazers will be the first to implement and 
test the delivery model for the MHSTs, and in 
Gloucestershire we have also been successful as an 
area to test the 4-week referral to treatment pilot. 
Learning from the trailblazers will inform future roll-out 
of the proposals. 

 

14 
 

4.2 Theme 2: Joined up support - schools, communities and GPs linked to 
mental health support 
 
Early help including workforce planning, development and training 
 
4.2.1 Mandatory mental health training for staff in schools and in other universal or ‘non-mental 
health-specialist’ services. We believe that mental health is ‘everybody’s business’ and as such, the 
workforce who are not ‘specialists’ in this area should nevertheless have a consistent level of knowledge 
and competence in mental health. This will make the workforce as a whole better able to identify need, 
provide support, and in turn be more resilient in the process, thereby reducing the demand for specialist 
services. An e-learning module has been developed for use across children’s services and is being rolled 
out to schools via training leads. Since its launch, 72 staff have been trained from primary schools, 
secondary schools, further education and colleges, special schools, School Nurses and alternative 
provision schools.            

4.2.2 Online access to counselling support has been piloted through a Voluntary and Community Sector 
organisation during 2016/17 and is a response to young people wanting to access support in different ways 
and an approach to providing cost effective services. This approach has been evaluated positively. The 
model ensures that young people can access support within a week of logging on and registering. Young 
people find the support helpful and some go on to have further face to face counselling. 94% of young 
people self-refer or are referred by their parents to the online counselling but are mostly signposted by their 
GP (49%) or by their school (22%). The model ensures that those waiting for face to face counselling are 
able to access this support quickly. Based on the evaluation, a procurement exercise was undertaken to 
commission this service. TiC+ were the successful bidders and a 3 year contract commenced in July 2018 
for online counselling to continue.  
 
4.2.3 Joining up Schools and Mental Health.  Following on from our successful Department for 
Education (DfE)/NHS England (NHSE) national pilot in Stroud in 2016/17, Gloucestershire has been 
successful in gaining Wave 1 Trailblazer status to test out the recommendations in the Governments Green 
Paper published this year. The proposals in the Green Paper include: 

• Every school and college will be encouraged to 
appoint a designated lead for mental health; 

• Creating community-based Mental Health 
Support Teams (MHSTs), helping children and 
young people in schools and colleges; and 

• Pilots in a small number of areas to test the 
feasibility of achieving and maintaining a 4-
week waiting time for NHS children and young 
people’s mental health services  

The trailblazers will be the first to implement and test 
the delivery model for the MHSTs, and in 
Gloucestershire we have also been successful as an 
area to test the 4-week referral to treatment pilot. 
Learning from the trailblazers will inform future roll-out 
of the proposals.  

In Gloucestershire we will be developing four trailblazer 
sites, two in Gloucester city, one in the Forest of Dean and 

Page 40



15

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

In Gloucestershire we will be developing four trailblazer sites, two in Gloucester city, one in 
the Forest of Dean and one in Cheltenham. The school populations covered will be 16,000 in 
Gloucester city, 9,000 in the Forest of Dean and 7,000 in Cheltenham over the ages of 5-16 and 
will include primary schools, secondary schools, special schools and alternative provision. 

To support the roll out of the programme all schools taking part will have a Designated Mental 
Health Lead and training will be provided to all of the schools. There will also be training provided 
for new roles via Health Education England and the University of Reading. Eight staff will be 
undertaking a year’s university and practice based training to become Children’s Wellbeing 
Practitioners providing early interventions for children and young people. The team will comprise of 
more senior mental health workers and counsellors.

The pilot will commence in January 2019 with phased roll out over 2019 and 2020.

4.2.4  Earlier Intervention Counselling. As a result of the needs assessment and 
engagement undertaken in the original plan, GCCG has invested in direct face to face counselling. 
The demand for face to face counselling has continued to increase year on year since 2016 with a 
32% increase in need between 2016/2017 and 2017/ 2018. Due to the increase in demand, access 
to the service has increased with a current 4 – 10 week wait to be seen. Young people are offered 
access to online counselling whilst on the waiting list. GCCG continue to work in partnership with 
TiC+ to reduce the waiting time. GCCG have increased their investment in this service to enable 
access to face to face counselling for 262 more young people in 2017/18 compared to 2016/17.

4.2.5  Mental health support for children with long term health conditions. This 
has been identified as a gap in local provision, and is vital to prevent long term mental health 
needs and further physical health conditions developing amongst this group of children and young 
people. In order to meet this need, we have commissioned a new Paediatric Liaison Service (incl. 
Emergency Department Liaison Team) within Gloucester Royal Hospital to support children and 
young people in outpatient and inpatient settings that experience emotional and mental health 
issues. This will be evaluated after 1 year to ensure that the service is meeting the needs of all 
children and young people diagnosed with a long term condition. We will also be building on 
the success of an arts based programme that supported children and young people with type 1 
diabetes to now include those with epilepsy, developing peer support as well as looking at good 
practice and evidence of what works across the country.

4.2.6  Developing a pathway for children and young people with Persistent   
Functional Symptoms.

‘Persistent physical or persistent functional symptoms’ (PFS) describes health situations in which 
a child or young person suffers from physical symptoms. These are also known as children and 
young people with ‘Medically Unexplained Symptoms’. These symptoms impact significantly on 
their access to important areas of their lives, including their ability to fully access education, and 
access to their activities and interests. 

The effects of persisting physical symptoms can include;

 Children and young people spending significant amounts of time on inpatient wards both in 
and out of county.

 Missing a lot of school, the young person may not achieve what they should do socially and 
academically.

 Seeing less of their friends, this can mean fewer interests, hobbies and fun.  

 Being less independent than other young people their age.

 Loss of confidence, or becoming increasingly worried, anxious or depressed.

Page 41



16

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

There is currently no specific service for children and young people presenting with PFS and 
this has been identified as a gap in local provision. There is now a project underway that is 
developing a new pathway and multidisciplinary team meetings for these children and young 
people that will be able to provide earlier identification and specific interventions that will 
improve the experience and outcomes for these children and young people and their families.

4.2.7  Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT). We are committed to 
continuing to train members of the specialist and wider mental health workforce, including 
practitioners in the Voluntary and Community Sector, in evidence based approaches via the 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Programme. Positive engagement with the regional 
educational collaborative has supported 25 practitioners in Gloucestershire from a range of 
organisations to be upskilled and trained by completing evidence based nationally recognised 
CYPS IAPT qualifications. We will continue to engage with the programme and train staff 
as appropriate. Additionally, as part of the trailblazer pilot approach with schools we will be 
training 20 staff through the IAPT programme to deliver evidence based early intervention.

We know that we need to continue to work hard to attract, develop and retain staff with the 
right skills to deliver our ambitious plan. Developing the Children’s Mental Health Workforce 
forms part of Gloucestershire’s Sustainability and Transformation Plan as a vehicle to take this 
forward and maximise success. We published our Children’s Mental Health Workforce plan in 
June 2017. 

Furthermore, the 2gether NHS Foundation Trust Mental Health workforce plan includes 
initiatives specifically around children’s services looking to recruit, retain and develop new roles. 
There are a number of new roles that are emerging within mental health that are an integral 
part of the STP collaboration and these include scoping the training of nurse prescribers within 
the Children and Young people’s service to make the most of the skills in the workforce and 
piloting new roles, such as the concept of a Health Care Assistant role working within children’s 
mental health services which is now rolling out across the service.

Workforce training featured heavily in the Mental Health Champion Award, and training 
sessions were delivered by GHLL around emotional health and wellbeing with 1304  teaching 
staff attending  (676  primary staff, 340 secondary/FE staff, 76 independent staff, 126 special 
schools staff, 28 Alternative Provision staff and 58 others e.g. school nurses etc.)                                                   

4.2.8  Self Harm 

Admissions to hospital for self-harm amongst 10-24 year olds continue to be higher in 
Gloucestershire than the England rate, although we have started to see an improvement in the 
most recently reported data (2016/17) and admissions are now significantly below the regional 
rate, having been similar or higher for the last five years. 

Local partnership working has made significant improvements to the availability of materials 
and training that can be used by schools to improve awareness and understanding of self-
harm amongst teachers and pupils. We have also seen significantly increased use of our 
Gloucestershire Self-Harm Helpline by young people since we improved text and online 
messaging options, with 29% of users (394 contacts) reporting that they are under 18 in 
2017/18, compared with 6% (21 contacts) in 2016/17. 

Page 42



17

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

During 2017/18, we developed a new Gloucestershire Strategic Framework for 
Self-Harm, coordinated around four stages:

1. Access to support before self-harm

2. Access to help: community, primary and secondary

3. Quality of care and treatment

4. Recovery, staying well and prevention of further self-harm.

Working with stakeholders in statutory and voluntary sector organisations, 
as well as people who have self-harmed, we have agreed an action plan for 
improvement, which is now being implemented alongside this transformation 
plan. This includes the following priority actions for 2018/19:

 Ensuring that improved information, advice and support for parents and 
carers includes good quality information about self-harm;

 Developing and promoting an online tool for practitioners working with 
young people who disclose self-harm. This tool will give practitioners the 
confidence and knowledge to ask questions about the young person’s 
self-harm, offer basic advice and support and signpost or refer to the most 
appropriate level of more specialist support;

 Improving understanding within certain parts of the pathway for young 
people who self-harm, specifically in primary care and minor injuries units;

 Ensuring timely and joined-up 
psychiatric support for young people 
who present at AandE having self-
harmed.

 

Page 43



18

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.3  Theme 3: Pathways – access/waiting times/transition. 

Getting Help

4.3.1  Access and Waiting times. We have set challenging local referral to assessment 
and referral to treatment waiting times of 8-10 weeks. These waiting times were successfully 
met during 2017/18. With additional demand we are now seeing waiting times from referral 
to treatment becoming longer. We have also seen demand rise for face to face counselling 
sessions provided by TiC+ and GCCG invested in 2017/18 along with the County Council (GCC) 
and Public Health team to support this. Following a growing number of children and young 
people presenting with significant mental health concerns as outlined above at section 2.2, 
GCCG will be making an additional investment into access and waiting times, trialling a 4 
week wait time supported by the DfE/NHSE trailblazer funding during 2019/20. See also below 
regarding Eating Disorder waiting times standards.

4.3.2  Outcome Measures. We have been working with our local partners to collect 
outcome measures for children and young people’s services in Gloucestershire. TiC+ have 
routinely been collecting YP CORE which have consistently shown an improvement in CYP 
wellbeing following intervention. The YP CORE covers four dimensions – subjective wellbeing, 
problems/symptoms, life functioning and risk/harm.

We are working with 2gether NHS Foundation Trust to develop the recording of paired 
outcome measures through our statutory services in accordance with direction from NHS 
England and will be taking part in regional workshops together in order to feedback into the 
process and contribute to the development of the CYP MH dashboard.

4.3.3  Parenting Programmes. Children and Family Centre early years parenting work 
is now focused on the Solihull Approach Parenting Groups and “You and Me, Mum” (for 
mothers supporting children and young people who have lived with domestic violence). 

In addition, some Webster Stratton programmes are delivered in partnership with CYPS, and 
Freedom programmes with Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS). Some 
Video Interactive Guidance (VIG) is being delivered by trained Health Visitors. Targeted Family 
Support/Families First parenting programme work concentrates on Triple P, which now includes 
both Group Triple P and 1-1 courses with families that find it difficult to get to a group.  Take 
up, completions and feedback are all positive. New developments include two-hour discussion 
groups to support parents (of 0-12s and teenagers) to manage common parenting difficulties 
and non-stigmatizing seminar groups via schools to create resilience through school-gate 
discussions.

CYPS work on parenting continues to involve Webster Stratton group programmes as an initial 
supportive intervention. Progress has been made on communicating the Webster Stratton 
pathway more effectively with referrers, such as schools, GPs, School Nurses and Health 
Visitors, to help reduce the stigma around attending parenting courses. Evaluation of routine 
outcomes now includes a focus on longer term outcomes of parenting courses at 6 and 12 
months post completion. In response to feedback, we will be working with CYPS and parents 
going forward to look at accessibility to these programmes. 

Page 44



19

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.3.4  Eating Disorders. Work is ongoing to ensure that there is an effective pathway 
in place so that all multiagency professionals including Primary Care, the Acute Trust and 
the eating disorder service work effectively to manage co-morbid physical health issues as 
well as the eating disorder. The Eating Disorders pathway was published on G-Care during 
17/18 and will be reviewed and revised to reflect the service developments identified 
below during Q3 18/19. The new waiting time standards have been incorporated into 
service delivery and the Eating Disorders service is a member of the National Eating 
Disorders Quality Network. A business case and funding was agreed for 18/19 to enhance 
the Eating Disorder service and comprises three elements;

 Prevention: Implementation of ‘The Body Project’ primary prevention programme to 
contribute to the reduction in onset and therefore demand of eating disorder services. 
The Body Project is a school based primary preventative intervention, initially piloted in 
four Gloucestershire schools, and delivered by the Centre for Appearance Research at 
the University of the West of England (UWE).  

 Physical Healthcare: Improve service offer to enhance the physical health care for people 
with a severe eating disorder by recruiting a GP practice to provide clinical support to 
the Eating Disorders Service (EDS).

 Performance: Increase the clinical capacity of the Eating Disorders Service to enable 
meeting the NHSE Access and Waiting Times Standards by focusing resources on early 
intervention.

Commissioners continue to 
work closely with 2gether NHS 
Foundation Trust, Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
(GHNHSFT), University of the 
West of England (UWE) and the 
University of Gloucestershire 
(UoG) to embed delivery of The 
Body Project intervention within 
Gloucestershire. 

Page 45



20

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.3.5  Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP). Gloucestershire operates a fully 
National Institute for Clinical Care and Excellence3  (NICE) compliant service for young 
people who develop psychosis for the first time. This includes a clear pathway and joint 
working including shared team roles between the CYPS service and EIP to ensure young 
people receive joined up care and support.

4.3.6  Transition. Work has been ongoing via a CQUIN to improve the experience 
and journey of young people into adult mental health services or onward care into the 
community. 2gether NHS Foundation Trust is working with young people and adult 
services to look at how adult services can better meet the needs and expectations 
of young people. A webpage has been developed on the trust intranet for staff with 
guidelines and frequently asked questions about transition. To date there have been over 
600 views of these pages showing staff are engaging with the need for better transition 
of children and young people from CYPS.

2gether continue to work with GCCG and local partners to implement the National 
Transition CQUIN during 2018/19. The aim is to improve the experience and outcomes 
for young people who transition from CYPS either to adult or community services. In 
particular the work has focused, through consultation with young people and carers, 
on what makes a good transition. This includes building resilience through careful 
preparation and providing information to equip young people to make choices should 
they need further care. This work has included the development of discharge plans and 
information about further help being given to young people leaving the service. 

Gloucestershire has implemented the ‘Ready, Steady, Go’ programme throughout its 
Learning Disabilities service following a pilot and positive feedback. Further work is 
underway to improve the experience and outcomes for this population.

A pre and post transition questionnaire for young people is helping to identify how 
services can improve. A review of information given to GPs will also be undertaken 
given their key role in delivering community services. In particular the CQUIN will look 
at young people who may be discharged from CYPS but access further mental health 
support as an adult. Gloucestershire is also working to implement the NICE transition 
quality standard.

A review of the Trust Transition policy is underway to ensure it is still relevant and 
incorporates the NICE standards and CQUIN markers. Work continues to ensure that a 
further CQUIN (from Adult Mental Health Services) looking at the 100% requirement for 
2 CPA reviews take place between CYPS and Adult Services is achieved.

  3https://www.nice.org.uk/about

NHS

NHS

Find nearest se
rvices in your area, 

info on when to use them and check 

opening hours and waiting tim
es.

Latest Campaign News >

12:00

Find nearest services in your area,

info on when to use them and check

opening hours and waiting tim
es.

Waiting Times

Telephone
support 

Page 46



21

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.4  Theme 4: Vulnerable CYP with complex needs / intensive    
 interventions.

Getting help, and help and support in a crisis

4.4.1  Young People in crisis. GCCG and GCC have been working to set up a more 
effective model of joint working including collaborative plans with NHS England Specialised 
Commissioning (NHSE SpecComm) to support alternative options to the use of mental health 
in-patient beds. This is to support young people who are often known to multiple agencies 
including health and social care and who are experiencing a social and/or psychological crisis. 
We know that these young people are at greater risk of engaging in offending activity, be 
subject to forms of exploitation and/or be less likely to be engaged in education or stable 
employment and training. They often have complex needs and present a challenge in terms of 
providing a joined up response, and engagement with services may often result in them being 
placed out of county.

Our response is to provide more local and bespoke support based on the development of 
a combined health and social care Intensive Intervention Service. This is based on feedback 
from young people, the needs described and best practice, and aims to support young people 
based on successful models of practice elsewhere in the country. The model is currently in 
development with phased implementation. Day provision and some specialist foster care and 
therapeutic support is now in place. The next phase is to develop the day care/fostering further 
and the residential element of the model and to expand the therapeutic team.  

Complementary to the above work, we have been developing our community Mental Health 
Acute Response Service (formerly known as the crisis service) and Gloucestershire 
Hospital based Psychiatric Liaison service to begin to work with younger people. This area of 
work has not progressed as quickly as we might have liked due to some workforce challenges. 
However, training has taken place within these services to enable staff to start working within 
a younger age range and we are confident that further progress will be made over the coming 
year. This will be monitored via monthly 2gether NHS Foundation Trust performance meetings.

4.4.2  GARAS (Gloucestershire Association for Refugees and Asylum Seekers).  GCCG 
have worked in partnership with 2gether NHS Foundation Trust and GARAS to provide specialist 
psychotherapy support delivered with an experienced interpreter for children and young people 
who are refugees or asylum seekers and have experienced severe trauma in their life. Between 
April and June of 2018, 25 children received direct 1-1 therapeutic support. GARAS are also 
providing support groups for carers of these children and young people.

4.4.3  Children who suffer from sexual abuse and /or exploitation. We are working 
collaboratively with our partners including the Sexual Assault Referral Centre Partnership Board 
and NHS England Health and Justice Commissioner to address gaps in the system which include 
victims of sexual abuse and /or exploitation. GCCG have had a grant funded pathway in place 
since April 2017 with local voluntary sector providers to enable children and young people who 
have been victims of sexual abuse/exploitation to access timely emotional support across the 
county. 

Page 47



22

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.4.4  Learning Disabilities (LD). In order to provide parity of esteem for children and 
young people in Gloucestershire with learning disabilities, the LD service is currently being 
re-modelled in a system wide approach. Feedback has been received from partners including 
Special School Head Teachers which has informed service development. In order to continue to 
support children and young people throughout the re-modelling phase and to meet increasing 
need, the team is being expanded with the recruitment of 2 additional specialist nurses. 
Increased psychology provision will also form part of the increased offer to children and young 
people with learning disabilities. 

Page 48



23

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.4.6  Young People at risk of contact with the criminal justice system. We are 
also working with NHS England Health and Justice commissioning to improve the support 
for young people at risk of entering the criminal justice system. NHS England Health and 
Justice have invested until 2022 to enhance the current arrangements by providing specific 
and targeted capacity to provide more integrated multi-agency assessment, consultation, 
formulation and therapeutic interventions for young people. The pilot started in January 
2017 and offers support that targets vulnerable young people at risk of contact with the 
criminal justice system, including those with emerging personality disorder, and/or in need 
of post trauma work. Historically this cohort has not been able to access services to address 
their needs. The pilot has improved integrated and effective multi-agency working. There 
are increased opportunities for joint assessment and direct work as well as building a shared 
understanding of presenting mental health needs and other vulnerabilities. Both CBT and DBT 
are offered alongside family work, and referral can be made to further specialist interventions 
such as neuro-developmental clinic, family therapy, Non Violent Resistance, Psychiatric 
appointments and the CYPS parenting programme. Good feedback has been received from 
both professionals and young people involved with the programme.

4.4.5  Children and Young People on the edge of care or in care. We will 
continue to work on developing a more comprehensive pathway of support for children 
coming into care, including the younger age group who may have suffered trauma, neglect 
and abuse. This is to help to ameliorate later mental health crises developing. We have 
developed a pilot with the fostering and adoption service to provide more intensive and 
focussed support for new foster carers and more specialist foster carers. This is in order to 
enable foster carers to better understand children’s experiences and needs and support 
placement stability as we know that this has a huge impact on children’s mental wellbeing. 
This development includes addressing capacity as the number of children in care has risen. 
We will continue to monitor demand and capacity going forward.

We are well underway with our local My Life My Plan pilot 
project for Children in Care, testing out integrated 

personal budgets to address mental health needs, until 
March 2019 as part of the NHS England Integrated 

Personal Commissioning programme.  The pilot 
currently supports children and young people aged 
11-18 years old, encouraging them to be involved 
in developing and delivering their own care plans. 
The pilot uses a One Page Profile to capture the 
voice of the young person and provides choice 
and control (where possible) about how they want 
to use their budget, providing a personalised yet 

effective way to improve outcomes. In response to 
Future in Mind which highlighted how children in care 

faced particular challenges in obtaining support at the 

Page 49



24

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

4.4.7  Expected increase in workforce 2018-2020. We have seen an increase in our 
workforce in Gloucestershire through the development of new and existing services for children 
and young people. Table 3. below outlines the anticipated increase in workforce over 2018-2020 
and the element of service delivery to which this expected increase is attached.

Service Job Role Band WTE

Learning Disabilities 
team

Specialist Nurse 6 2.0

Harmful Sexual 
Behaviour

Clinical Specialist 7 1.0

Administrator 3 0.2

Consultant 
Paediatrician

Consultant grade 0.4

Team Administrator 3 0.6

Paediatric 
Physiotherapist

6 0.4

Paediatric OT 6 0.4

Clinical Psychologist 8a 0.4

Social Worker N/A 0.4

Educational 
Psychologist

N/A 0.2

Harmful Sexual 
Behaviour

HSB worker 7 1.0

Paediatric Liaison 
Service

Clinical Psychologist 8a 1.0

Paediatric Liaison 
Mental Health Nurse

6 0.8

Schools Link Project 
(18/19)

Primary Mental Health 
Worker

6 6.0

Mental Health 
Support Teams pilot

Primary Mental Health 
Workers

6 7.0

Education Mental 
Health Workers

6 1.6

Counsellor N/A 5.0

Team Supervisor 7 2.0

Service Manager 8a 1.0

4 week wait pilot Mental Health Nurse 6 11.0

Mental Health Nurse 7 3.0

Support for Parents/
Carers

Counsellor N/A 0.8

Total 61.6

Table 3. Anticipated workforce expansion in Gloucestershire 2018-2020 

The overview of our key activities and increased activity is in our roadmap on the following 
page.

Page 50



25

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

G
lo

u
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

Fu
tu

re
 in

 M
in

d
 R

o
ad

m
ap

 –
 K

ey
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

ts

In
cr

ea
se

d 
nu

m
be

rs
  

of
 C

Y
P 

be
in

g 
su

pp
or

te
d

70
0+

90
0+

10
00

+
10

00
+

20
16

/1
7

 
z

Li
nk

in
g 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
+

 
Sc

ho
ol

s 
vi

a 
th

e 
‘S

ch
oo

ls
 P

ilo
t’

 
z

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 C
ha

m
pi

on
s 

A
w

ar
d 

fo
r 

Sc
ho

ol

 
z

La
un

ch
 o

f 
w

eb
si

te
 f

or
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 
z

O
nl

in
e 

an
d 

fa
ce

 t
o 

fa
ce

 
co

un
se

lli
ng

 t
hr

ou
gh

 t
he

 V
C

SE

 
z

Im
pr

ov
e 

tr
an

si
tio

n 
fr

om
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 t
o 

ad
ul

t 
se

rv
ic

es

 
z

Bu
si

ne
ss

 c
as

e 
fo

r 
Jo

in
t 

In
te

ns
iv

e 
In

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 S

er
vi

ce
 f

or
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 in
 c

ris
is

 w
ith

 G
C

C
 a

nd
 

N
H

S 
En

gl
an

d

20
17

/1
8

 
z

D
ev

el
op

 w
eb

 p
ag

es
 a

nd
 s

ou
rc

es
 o

f 
su

pp
or

t 
fo

r 
pa

re
nt

s

 
z

Ro
ll 

ou
t 

Sc
ho

ol
s 

Pi
lo

t 
ac

ro
ss

 t
he

 c
ou

nt
y

 
z

Im
pl

em
en

t 
im

pr
ov

ed
 s

up
po

rt
 f

or
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 in
 c

ris
is

 
z

Im
pr

ov
e 

su
pp

or
t 

fo
r 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

tr
au

m
a 

an
d 

ab
us

e,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

se
xu

al
 a

bu
se

 a
nd

 u
na

cc
om

pa
ni

ed
 

as
yl

um
 s

ee
ke

rs

 
z

C
on

tin
ue

 t
o 

im
pr

ov
e 

tr
an

si
tio

n 
fr

om
 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 t
o 

ad
ul

t 
se

rv
ic

es

 
z

Re
vi

ew
 p

ar
en

tin
g 

pr
og

ra
m

s

 
z

In
te

gr
at

ed
 P

er
so

na
lis

ed
 C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
pi

lo
t 

fo
r 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 C
ar

e

20
18

/1
9

 
z

Im
pl

em
en

t 
su

pp
or

t 
fo

r 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 

lo
ng

 t
er

m
 p

hy
si

ca
l 

he
al

th
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 
z

Fu
lly

 e
m

be
d 

re
vi

se
d 

pa
th

w
ay

 o
f 

m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 s

up
po

rt
 f

or
 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 C
ar

e

 
z

Im
pr

ov
e 

pa
th

w
ay

 o
f 

su
pp

or
t 

fo
r 

Ea
tin

g 
D

is
or

de
rs

 s
o 

th
at

 
pr

im
ar

y 
ca

re
, a

cu
te

 
pa

ed
ia

tr
ic

 a
nd

 m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

ar
e 

cl
ea

r 
ab

ou
t 

th
ei

r 
ro

le

20
19

/2
0

 
z

Re
vi

ew
 

op
tio

ns
 

fo
r 

a 
0

-2
5 

ye
ar

 o
ld

 
se

rv
ic

e

In
cr

ea
se

d 
st

af
fin

g 
25

+
 w

ho
le

 t
im

e 
st

af
f

Page 51



26

Gloucestershire’s Future In Mind            2018

5. Next steps

This plan remains a working document that is added to, to 
assure partners that the resource for emotional health and 
wellbeing services is being utilised in an effective manner 
which meets the needs of the local population. We have a 
robust governance process in place described in our original 
plan which ensures that we deliver transformation for our 
children, young people and families. Finally, we will continue to 
track the progress of a number of initiatives over the final few 
years of funding through the outcomes and key performance 
framework and our action plan.

Page 52



 

 

1.0 Ba

The Gre
mental 
schools
expecte
improve

To beco
collectio
the imp
health a
Glouces
Octobe

In Dece
was suc
implem
develop
exam s
within a
as man

As well 
Glouces
for spec
of NHS 

2.0 The

2.1 Me

Based o
identifie
schools
Dean a

Each te
Suppor
counse
and hel
provide
compon

Each de

Glouces

ckground

een Paper, 
health care

s and colleg
ed to be roll
ements for c

ome a Trail
on in order 

pact of the M
and demons
stershire we
r 2018.  

ember 2018
ccessful in s
entation of 
p models of
tress, beha

a school and
y as 4 MHS

as piloting 
stershire ha
cialist childr
services al

e Model in

ental Healt

on a local n
ed a Mental
s, colleges a
nd Glouces

eam will cov
rt Teams wi
llors, suppo
p children a

e a link to sp
nents of an 

esignated te

stershire

d  

published i
e for children
ges and red
ed out to be
children and

blazer, CCG
to measure

MHSTs on N
strate progr
ere invited t

8, the Gover
securing £5
four Menta

f early interv
avioural diffic
d college se
STs, Glouce

Mental Hea
ave been se
ren and you
lready unde

n Glouces

th Suppor

needs analy
 Health Tra
and special 
ster City.  

ver a popula
ll build on s
ort children 
and young p
pecialist NH
MHST. 

eam will co

e’s Menta

Stakeh

n Decembe
n and young
ucing waitin
etween a th
d young peo

G’s had to m
e how they a
NHS referra
ress in incre
to submit an

rnment ann
5m funding 
l Health Su
vention on m
culties or fr
etting. Only 
estershire b

alth Suppor
elected to tr
ung people’s
erway.  

stershire 

rt Teams (M

ysis, 72 Sch
ilblazer Lea
schools ch

ation of 800
support alrea
and young 
people with 

HS services.

mprise of: 

al Health

holder B

er 2017, det
g people by
ng times for
hird and a fif
ople’s servi

meet three c
are perform
als, meet the
easing acce
n expressio

ounced Tra
up until 202
pport Team
mild to mod
iendship iss
2/25 areas

being of them

rt Teams, 12
rial a four-w
s mental he

MHSTs)  

hools  have 
ad. The four
hosen in thre

00 students 
ady in place
people with
 more seve
. See Annex

h Trailbla

Briefing 

tailed propo
y providing 
r treatment. 
fth of the co
ices promis

criteria; dem
ming against

e expected 
ess to CYP 
on of interes

ailblazer site
21. This fun

ms (MHSTs)
derate ment
sues, as we
 across the
m.   

2 sites acro
week waiting
ealth service

signed up a
r MHSTs w
ee locality a

aged betwe
e from serv
h mild to mo
ere needs to
x 1 for a de

azer Prog

osals for exp
additional s
The new se

ountry by 20
ed in the N

monstrate ro
the four ho
levels of inv
mental hea

st and subse

es, of which
ding will su

) in Glouces
al health iss

ell as provid
country wil

ss the coun
g time for re
es, building 

and have su
ill be workin

areas; Chelt

een 5-18 ye
ices in plac

oderate men
o access the
tailed infog

gramme 

panding acc
support thro
ervices are 
023-24, with
HS long-ter

obust data 
our target pi
vestment in

alth services
equent bid 

h Glouceste
upport the 
stershire  to
sues, such 

ding help to 
ll be implem

ntry includin
eferral to tre

on the exp

ubsequently
ng with sele
tenham, Fo

ears. Menta
ce including 
ntal health i
e right supp
raphic of th

cess to 
ough 

h further 
rm plan. 

ilot and 
n mental 
s. 
in 

rshire 

 
as 
staff 

menting 

ng 
atment 
ansion 

y 
ected 
orest of 

l Health 
school 

issues 
port, and 
e core 

Page 53



 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

2.2 Fou

In deve
feedba
young p
providin
young p
 
Our pro
position
Trust h
 

 
 
 

 
3.0 Pro

3.1 Me

Since D
establis
progres
continu
now be

Educati
end of A
will be f
Adopter
and refi

Working
complim
children
accomm
children

4 Educatio
level, traini
and on com

2 Primary 
Practitioner
depth asse

0.5 Team M
governance

Additional
organisatio

ur Week W

eloping and
ck from sta
people dire
ng earlier in
people to a

oposal is to
n by the en
as committ

100% of C
50% of CY
100% of C

ogress so

ental Healt

December, t
shed to take
ss with repo
e to meet a
en identified

ion Mental H
April 2019 a
fully operati
r Schools fo
ine the core

g towards fo
mentary com
n & young p
modation f
n are given 

on Mental H
ng at the U

mpletion of t

Mental Hea
rs that will s

essment and

Manager – 
e 

 Face to Fa
on 

Wait (4WW

d delivering
akeholders 
ectly reporti
ntervention
achieve in a

o have a gra
nd of April 2
ted to achie

CYP have in
YP have acc
CYP have a

 far 

th Suppor

the program
e place bi-m
orting and go
and following
d to progres

Health Prac
and training
onal. We th
or the Sprin
e offers, re

ormal launc
mmunicatio
people from
for office ba
choice in w

Health Prac
niversity of 
training, will

alth Practit
supervise th
d interventio

 managing 

ace Couns

W)  

 our Future
was aroun
ing “waiting

n through re
all parts of t

adual impro
2020 where
eving:  

nitial access
cess and h
ccess and 

rt Teams (M

mme has co
monthly from
overnance 
g feedback 
ss specific a

ctitioners (E
 will be grad

herefore pla
g & Summe
ferral path

ch to all Tra
on and eng
our Early A

ases and sp
when and wh

ctitioners (
Exeter ove
l qualify at B

tioners (PM
he EMHP tra
on if require

each team 

elling  –  p

e in Mind Lo
nd providing
g times nee
educed wai
their lives a

ovement ov
e our local p

s appointm
have a seco

a second a

MHSTs) 

ontinued at p
m March 201
arrangeme
from a stak

areas of wo

EMHP’s) wil
duated unti

an to use a “
er school te

hway and tr

ilblazer Sch
gagement p
Adopter sch
pace for inte
here they w

EMHPs) – a
r the next y
Band 5 leve

MHPs) – exp
ainees and 

ed 

and assurin

rovided by T

ong Term P
g earlier int
ed to be red
iting times 
and preven

ver 18/19 a
provider 2G

ment within 
ond appoint
appointmen

pace. A Pro
19 to monito
nts in place
keholder wo
ork (these a

l be practisi
l November
“test and le

erms so that
raining mat

hools during
plan informe

hools will be
erventions w
would like to

a new work
year with su
el  

perienced M
provide mo

ng quality o

TiC+, volun

Plan (LTP) 
ervention w
duced”. We
will suppor

nt issues es

and 19/20 to
Gether NHS

2 weeks.  
tment withi
nt within 6 w

ogramme Bo
or and over

e. The mont
orkshop, wo
re highlight

ing one day
r 2019 at w
arn” approa
t we can rec
trix as nece

g Autumn T
ed by the st

e developed
will be ident

be seen. A

kforce at Ba
pervised pr

Mental Heal
ore expert a

of activity an

ntary sector 

the overwh
with childre
e believe th
rt children a
scalating.  

to a sustain
S Foundatio

in 4 weeks
weeks  

oard has be
rsee progra
thly project 
orkstreams 
ted in blue b

y per week f
hich point E

ach with ten
ceive feedb
essary.  

Term 2019, a
taff, parents

d.  and 
ified to ens

An induction

and 4 
ractice 

lth 
and in 

nd 

helming 
en and 
hat 
and 

nable 
on 

.  

een 
mme 
team 
have 

below).  

from the 
EMHPs 
n Early 
back 

a 
s and 

ure 
n plan 

Page 54



 

 

and ope
a report

A worki
framew

3.2 Fou

3.4 Go

The Bo
Integrat

Subgro
work as
by any 
subgrou

The gov
shown b

 

 

Februar

erating man
ting mecha

ng group to
work is being

ur Week W

overnance

ard will repo
ted Care Sy

ups and tas
s necessary
relevant su
ups to the B

vernance st
below:  

Stat

ry 2019

nual detailin
nism will be

o focus on e
g developed

Wait (4WW

 and Acco

ort to the Jo
ystem Deliv

sk & finish g
y to support
bgroups, an

Board. 

tructure of t

tutory Accounta

Glouceste
F

ICS De

ng governa
e in place to

evaluation 
d.  

W) 

ountability

oint Commis
very Board (

groups will b
the work of

nd significa

the Program

able Boards/ Re

rshire Strategic
Forum 

livery Board 

nce arrang
o monitor ou

of the progr

y 

ssioning Pa
(ICS)  

be establish
f the Progra
nt issues an

mme Board 

egulators

c 

Joint C
Partn

Trailbla
Progr

Trailb
Project

Trailblaz
Wee

ements for 
utcomes. 

ramme has

artnership E

hed to supp
amme. Reg
nd decision

with local a

Commissioning 
nership Board 

(JCPE)

azer Bi-Monthly
ramme Board 

blazer Monthly 
 Team Meeting

zer Round Tabl
ekly Check-In  

MHSTs will

been estab

Executive (J

port various 
ular reports
s should be

and national

y 

NHS Engla

g

e 

l be develo

blished and

JCPE) and t

aspects of 
s should be
e escalated 

l reporting l

and Regional T

Child
Hea
Part

ped and 

 a 

the 

the 
made 
from 

ines is 

Team 

dren’s Emotion
alth & Wellbein
tnership Meetin

nal 
ng 
ng

Page 55



 

 

A

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annex 1: Core Components oof Mental Healtth Support Teaams  

P
age 56



 

Primary Care Networks and 

Integrated Locality 

Partnerships 

Gloucestershire 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

19th March 2019 

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 10



General Practice and the Long Term Plan 

“The biggest reform to GP services in 15 years”  HSJ 

“The most important change to the GP contract since 2004 and a potential game 

changer” BMJ 

“These are the most significant changes in 15 years”  BMA 

“The start of a new era for general practice” NHSE 

 

P
age 58



Neighbourhood 

30~50k 

Primary Care Networks that bring together local 
health and care professionals around natural local 
neighbourhoods of care – improving integrated ways 
of working and more joined-up pathways; and 
embedding population health approaches. 

Place 

~250-500k 

Groups of local primary care networks that work 
alongside partners in secondary care, mental health 
and with CCGs and local authorities, to: 
• Integrate health and care services 
• Work preventatively to stop people becoming 

acutely unwell 
• Care models to redesign care 

System 

1+m 

Providers and commissioners collaborating to: 
• Hold a system control total 
• Implement strategic change 
• Take on responsibility for operational and financial 

performance 
• Population health management 

Individual 

Supporting individuals to manage their own care 
through self-care, care navigation and improving 
patient activation. 

Primary Care in an ICS 

P
age 59



• The Network Contract will be a large Directed Enhanced Service (DES). 

By 2023/24, it is  expected to create national entitlements worth £1.8 billion 

(£1.2bn new funding), or £1.47m for a typical PCN covering 50,000 people, 

in return for implementation of relevant  NHS Long Term Plan commitments.  

 

• GPC England and NHS England are committed to 100% geographical 

coverage of the Network Contract by the Monday 1 July 2019 ‘go live’ 

date. Each Network will be led by a named accountable Clinical 

Director (0.25 WTE funding per 50,000 population.) 

 

• From April 2020, every PCN will be able to see the benefits it is 

achieving for its population and patients through a new national 

Network Dashboard. 

 

• A new national Network Investment and Impact fund, linked to 

performance against metrics in the Network Dashboard, starts in 2020. 

 

• The Network Contract will include national Network Service Specifications - 

these set out what all networks have to deliver (see next slide). 

 

 

14 

Introducing the Network Contract 

P
age 60



New Network Services and New Workforce 
• The following services will start by April 2020: 

• Structured Medications Review and Optimisation (increasing in scope and 

scale each year) 

• Enhanced Health in Care Homes 

• Anticipatory Care requirements for high need patients typically experiencing 

several long-term conditions 

• Personalised Care 

• Supporting Early Cancer Diagnosis 

• Both CVD Prevention and Diagnosis and Tackling Neighbourhood 

Inequalities will follow by 2021 

 

• PCNs can receive (subject to delivery of new service specifications) funding for up 

to an estimated 20,000+ additional staff by 2023/24: 

• Clinical pharmacists (from 2019/20) 

• Social prescribing link workers (from 2019/20) 

• First contact physiotherapist (from 2020/21) 

• Physician associates (from 2020/21) 

• First contact community paramedics (from 2021/22). 

 

P
age 61



Gloucestershire Place Based Care 

P
age 62



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Transformational Support 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Locality Primary Care Networks 

Cheltenham 

(c. 48,000 – 58,000 patients) 

Three networks based on geography 

Forest of Dean 

(c. 64,000 patients) 

All eleven practices in one network 

Gloucester City 

(c.26,000 – 48,000 each) 

Five networks based predominantly on geography 

North Cotswold 

(c. 30,000 patients) 

All five practices in one network 

South Cotswold 

(c. 60,000 patients) 

All eight practices in one network 

Stroud & Berkeley Vale 

(c. 18,000 – 40,000 patients) 

Four networks based on geography 

Tewkesbury, Newent and 

Staunton (c. 43,000) 

All four practices within one network 

Total 16 Primary Care Networks 

Gloucestershire Primary Care Networks 

P
age 63



Specialist Regional 
Centres 

Specialist Hospital  
Services  

Community, 
Primary and  
Support  

Jack  

Me / My 
Home (1) 

My District/Locality  
(80-100,000) 

My Local Area (15-
30,000)  

My Village or Suburb 
(5–10,000) 

My Street 
(500-1,000)  

My County  
(600,000) 

My Region  
(2,000,000) 

Services plan responding to a 
‘people and place’ 
perspective  / Place based 
commissioning building on 
Jack’s Story  

Integrated Locality 
Partnerships 

GSF / ICS Delivery 
Board 

Primary Care  
Networks/Homes 

People And Place – Developing ICS Governance  

P
age 64



Integrated Locality Partnership (ILP) 

 

• Operational and Strategic partnership of senior 

leaders of providers and local government, 

supporting integration at PCN level,  

• Clinically-led integration, while involving staff and 

residents in decisions, to keep people in the community 

and out of hospital. 

• ILP Plan to deliver defined population strategy 

including prevention and public health, with aligned 

priorities agreed to improve outcomes,.   

• Develop multidisciplinary workforce models . 

Monthly meetings.  Quarterly more 
strategic focus.  Annually focus on 
agreeing/reviewing long term strategy 
and agree objectives for following year.   
 
Membership  
• Senior Representatives for all major 

providers (GCS, 2G, GHFT, SWASFT) 
• Social Care Lead 
• Public Health Lead 
• Local Government Representative 
• GPs 
• CCG Manager and CCG 

Director/Deputy 
• PPG or Lay Representative(s) 
• ILP Administrator 

Equal weighting; Collective decision making; 
Collective accountability; Collective share in 

achievements 

P
age 65



Cheltenham ILP 
Number of Primary Care 
networks 

3 

Cheltenham Peripheral Leckhampton, Sixways, 
Seven Posts, Stoke Road,  
Winchcombe 

Cheltenham Central Berkeley Place, Crescent 
Bakery, Overton Park, 
Royal Crescent, 
Springbank, Underwood, 
Yorkleigh 

Cheltenham St Pauls Corinthian, Portland, 
Royal Well, St 
Catherine’s, St George’s  

Registered Population 156,862  

GMS/PMS Spend £11,478,616 

GHFT Spend £63,091,607 

GCS Spend £14,166,826 

2G Spend £16,812,539 

SWAST (999) Spend £5,520,733 

P
age 66



 

 

 

Complex Care @ Home 

A multi-professional team within the 

Gloucestershire Care Services Integrated 

Community Team 
 

 

 

 

• Community Matrons/Case Managers  

• Community Dementia Matron  

• Administrator  

• Wellbeing Coordinators  

• Physiotherapist 

• Occupational Therapist 

• Dietitian 

 

• Adult Social Care – Care Navigator dedicated to the CC@H team 

 

• Community &Voluntary Sector Partners 

 

 

P
age 67



Complex Care @ Home – Case Study Outcomes 

Reg is 88 and lives alone and socially 
isolated. He has diabetes and heart failure, 
resulting in poor mobility, low blood pressure, 
pain and falls. He has had 9 admissions to 
GRH in 3 months 

 

Intervention: My Life My Plan completed, 
medication reviewed, referred to foot clinic, 
discussion and Advance Care Plan 
completed, exercise plan developed, driving 
license surrendered. 

 

Outcome: Daily strengthening exercises, 
gaining weight, no further falls, blood 
pressure and pain  improving. Bought 
mobility scooter and joined Age UK hub. No 
further admissions to hospital. Family happy 
with improvements and feel much more 
confident with him living independently at 
home. 

 

Betty is 93 and lives alone. 

Family wanted her to go to live in a care 
home as she has been increasingly 
dependent on them.  

She has been losing weight, fallen and 
fractured wrist, has osteoporosis and mild 
heart failure. Betty is upset as a friend and 
neighbour had fallen and been admitted to 
hospital then a care home. 

She has lost her confidence to go out – used 
to walk to town 2 to 3 times a week to meet a 
friend for coffee. 

 

Intervention:  My Life My Plan completed, 
discussion and Advance Care Plan 
completed, medication reviewed and some 
discontinued, blood pressure has improved.  

 

Outcome: Has now regained confidence and 
is now back to walking into town. Family 
confidence has improved and they are no 
longer discussing a move to a care home.  

P
age 68



Better Balance 

Cardiac Rehab 

Cancer Rehab 

Respiratory 
Rehab 

Exercise on 
Referral  

Health Walks 

Our Healthy Lifestyles Scheme delivers safe, supportive and targeted health 

initiatives to over 3800 residents who have long term health conditions. Our 

costing model meant that a whole year of healthy lifestyles classes in 2017/18 

only cost the authority £177.80.  

With current growth we forecast the scheme will generate income in 2018/2019.  
 

P
age 69



3814 attendances at Healthy Lifestyles schemes 

(2017/2018) 

33% 

Providing Targeted activities to promote Healthy Lifestyles  
and Reduce health inequalities.  

P
age 70



Hospital Physio Referral  
Jim had a fall at home and went 
to hospital, he was referred to 

the Falls Team 

Jim completes his 6 weeks at  
Active Balance and is asked if he 
would like to be referred to the 

Better Balance Classes 

Different Referral Pathways into  
Better Balance Classes  

Jim  

Maria 

Physio refers Jim to  
Better Balance Classes 

GP Referral  
Maria hasn’t fallen but is having 
some balance issues.  Maria asks 

her GP if there is anything she can 
do to help her balance. 

GP refers Maria to  
the Better Balance team. 

Better Balance team check 
suitability  

of each referral form.  

Self Referral  
Doris has been referred  by her GP 

to attend the classes but her 
husband Dave would like to attend 

as well.  

Dave completes his own referral 
form and sends it to the  

Better Balance team. 

Doris & 
Dave 

Once approved, Jim, Maria and Dave come to their 
nearest Better Balance Class! 

P
age 71



What have ILP Pilot members said? 

“The right 

people in the 

room together at 

the same time” 

“I am pleased to say 

we have made good 

progress and have 

actually achieved 

some things!” 

“As a committee we have had excellent engagement from 

all locality provider organisations as well as linked 

stakeholders with an interest in population well being and 

patient care” 

“We have begun to 

build strong links 

between all and given 

central structure to our 

cluster/network 

working” 

“A very 

promising start 

to ILP 

development. 

“We can share 

relevant 

information to the 

wider VCSE and 

public sector in our 

area”  

“Community-based 

wellbeing work is more 

effective and we feel 

we are all on the same 

side” 

“It’s great to have different 

providers in the room we 

appreciate being included as a 

District Council” 

P
age 72



Engagement and Next Steps 

• Engagement across our ICS providers: 

GP/GCS/2G/GHFT and other stakeholders  

• Finalise our Gloucestershire Primary Care Networks 

• Visits underway to all District Council CEOs 

• Agree number of ILPs and their boundaries 

• Implementation of ILPs across Gloucestershire from 

April 2019 onwards 

• Implementation of PCN Network Contract July 2019 

 

 

P
age 73



Questions? 

P
age 74



Health & Wellbeing Board 
19 March 2019 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 11



The National NHS Long Term Plan  
 

• Published in January 2019 

• Ambitions for how the NHS can improve over the 
next decade 

• Covering all three Life stages: 

– Making sure everyone gets the best start in life 

– Delivering world class care for major health 
problems 

– Supporting people to age well 

• Consistent with how support and services are 
developing locally 
 

P
age 76



Gloucestershire features in the 
NHS Long Term Plan 

P
age 77



What we are doing in Gloucestershire  
 Developing our Long Term Plan for Gloucestershire,   

asking What matters to you about? 

The Place - how you and your family get health 
advice, support and services when you need them, 
in your home, neighbourhood, community and 
county 

The Life Course – your health priorities at every 
stage in life  

Supporting better care – supporting staff, making 
best use of technology, reducing waste and making 
best use of resources  

 

 

P
age 78



Our challenges 
 

• A growing population 
with more complex 
needs, in all age groups  

• Increasing demand for 
services and people 
unsure about what 
services to use 

• Recruiting and keeping 
enough staff with the 
right skills and expertise     

• Pressure on money 
 

P
age 79



What we want to achieve  
in Gloucestershire  

• Most care available in, or near, 
home  

• High quality, joined up services with 
the right care, staff skills and 
equipment in the right place  

• Best use of the ‘Gloucestershire  £’ 
for health and wellbeing priorities.  

• Healthy, active communities with 
strong networks of support 

• A simpler way to get advice, 
support and services, 7 days a week 

 

 

P
age 80



The ‘One Gloucestershire Way’ 
 Everyone’s responsibility  

• Taking greater control of your 
own health, and that of your 
family 

• Prevention is better than cure, 
emphasis on reducing the 
likelihood of ill health, physical 
and mental 

• Wide Gloucestershire 
partnership to tackle other 
things that can have a big 
impact on health and wellbeing 
e.g. housing, education, crime 
and social isolation 
 
 

P
age 81



 
 

• More support and care in 
people’s own homes, GP 
surgeries and local 
neighbourhoods  

• Supporting people to stay 
active and healthy 
maintaining independence 
for longer 

• When people are really 
unwell, providing specialist 
hospital and mental health 
services comparable to the 
best in England 
 

The ‘One Gloucestershire Way’ 

P
age 82



The ‘One Gloucestershire Way’ 

Most health 
priorities can be 
met in local 
communities 
(PLACE), using 
local knowledge, 
networks and skills 

 

 

P
age 83



Place based approach  
GP surgeries in local 
areas (in Integrated 
Locality Partnerships) 
coming together to work 
with a wide range of 
community partners, 
carers and local people 
(in Primary Care 
Networks) to meet local 
needs 
 
Reducing the need to 
travel further afield for 
support and care 

P
age 84



Place based approach  
• Improving well-being through social 

prescribing – 3, 500 people supported in a 
year and Access to health coaching  

• Additional 100,000 GP surgery appointments 
in the daytime, evening and weekends 

• More health experts working in GP surgeries 
e.g. clinical pharmacists, physiotherapists, 
paramedics, mental health 

• Care support to older people at home e.g. 
frailty, dementia 

 

 

P
age 85



Place based approach  

• Expanding community health and 
social care teams – including the 
rapid response service 

• Mental health support alongside 
community services e.g. easier to 
get help in a mental health crisis, at 
home or in your local area   

• Looking at how we provide a range 
of injury and illness services in 
hospital (e.g. Urgent Treatment 
Centres) and in the community  

 

P
age 86



Specialist Centres of Excellence at Cheltenham 
General and Gloucestershire Royal Hospitals 

 • Outstanding care comparable to the best in England 

• Prioritising health outcomes, safety and patient 
experience 

• Two thriving hospital sites – both specialist centres 
increasing the likelihood of local residents treated here 

• Supporting local access where it does not compromise 
quality of care, outcomes and safety   

 

 

P
age 87



Specialist Centres of Excellence at Cheltenham 
General and Gloucestershire Royal Hospitals 

• Developing options to bring some services (and 
expertise) onto either hospital site to make both 
stronger and better able to meet patient needs in the 
future 

• Considering greater separation between urgent care 
and planned care to improve availability of beds, 
ensure fewer cancelled operations and improve 
waiting times  

 

P
age 88



The Life Course: Starting Well 
 
 

 

 

 

 

• Support for 
pregnant women 
and their families  

• Support more 
young people to 
get healthy and 
active 

• Early advice and 
support on 
mental health  

 

P
age 89



The Life Course: Living Well 

 

 
• Looking after 

your health 
and wellbeing  

• Living with a 
health 
condition  

• Living with a 
learning 
disability  

 

P
age 90



The Life Course: Ageing Well 

• Staying physically 
active 

• Living well with 
frailty 

• Living well with 
dementia 

• End of Life Care  

 

P
age 91



Local Engagement – Spring 2019 
 What matters to you?  

• Staff and public engagement on developing the NHS Long 
Term Plan locally 

• Booklet and survey – hardcopy and on-line  
• Community Events/Awareness Raising  
• Working with Healthwatch Gloucestershire 
• Further engagement and consultation planned in 2019/20 

 

www.onegloucestershire.net 
@One_Glos 
 

P
age 92

http://www.onegloucestershire.net/

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy update - priority scope
	8 ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences) update
	9 Future in Mind Transformation Plan Update
	Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board frontsheet for March 2019
	Future in Mind REPORT27_11_18 final
	Stakeholder Briefing  February 2019 Briefing

	10 Integrated Locality Partnerships
	11 NHS Long Term Plan - Update

